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BUSINESS OF JOINT COMMITTEE

The joint committee met in private session until 9.55 a.m.

Business of Joint Committee

Chairman: We have a recurring apology for our Thursday morning meeting from Senator 
MacSharry who has become part of the banking inquiry.

Under EU legislative proposals and scrutiny, we had a discussion in our private session on 
COM (2014) 362.  Deputy Ó Caoláin has requested further information on this and it is agreed 
that we will ask our EU policy clerk to provide further information and an advice note with 
respect to this proposal.  I thank the clerk for her assistance to the committee during the course 
of this year and wish her a very happy Christmas.

Regulation of Cosmetic Surgery: Discussion

Chairman: Our first session concerns the implications for patients and the medical profes-
sion of unregistered practitioners of cosmetic surgery.  I welcome Mrs. Margaret O’Donnell, 
president of the Irish Association of Plastic Surgeons, Ms Patricia Eadie, immediate past presi-
dent of the Irish Association of Plastic Surgeons, Ms Siobhan Kelly, CEO of the Irish College 
of Ophthalmologists, and Dr. Patrick Ormond, Irish Association of Dermatology.  They are very 
welcome and I thank them for being here.  I thank Senator Crown, who put this matter on the 
agenda for the work programme.

I remind members, visitors and those in the Visitors Gallery that mobile phones should be 
switched off or put on aeroplane mode, as they interfere with broadcasting equipment even 
when in silent mode.

Witnesses are protected by absolute privilege in respect of the evidence they are to give this 
committee.  If they are directed by the committee to cease giving evidence in relation to a par-
ticular matter and they continue to so do, they are entitled thereafter only to a qualified privilege 
in respect of their evidence.  Witnesses are directed that only evidence connected with the sub-
ject matter of these proceedings is to be given and they are asked to respect the parliamentary 
practice to the effect that, where possible, they should not criticise nor make charges against 
any person, persons or entity by name or in such a way as to make him, her or it identifiable.  
Members are reminded of the long-standing parliamentary practice to the effect that members 
should not comment on, criticise or make charges against a person outside the House or an of-
ficial by name or in such a way as to make him or her identifiable.

We thank everyone for being here.  We have received apologies today from the professor 
of dermatology at St. Vincent’s University Hospital, Dr. Brian Kirby, who cannot attend our 
meeting today due to the bereavement of a colleague.  I extend our sympathies to him and to 
the family of the deceased.

Mrs. Margaret O’Donnell: We thank the committee for inviting us to discuss what we be-
lieve is a widespread patient safety issue.  Patients are being harmed.  If one gets into a taxi, one 
expects the driver to have passed a driving test, and to hold a licence.  Yet a patient undergoing 
cosmetic surgery may be operated upon by a doctor with no professional surgical qualifications.
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Perhaps I should begin by clarifying what is surgery and what is non-surgery.  Surgery 
means operations, such as breast implants, tummy tucks or liposuction.  Non-surgery usually 
means injection treatment, such as botox, fillers and laser treatments.  Done properly, these 
treatments can give a very high quality of satisfaction to the patient and improvement in their 
quality of life.  These treatments are offered by a wide variety of practitioners - not just surgeons 
and doctors, but also nurses, beauty therapists and possibly others - but there is no register of 
practitioners, there is no licence and standards vary hugely.  A vast number of treatments are 
being offered, many without any scientific proof that they work.  Non-surgical and non-invasive 
does not mean safe.  Many of these treatments can and do cause harm.

We have been asked to give some examples.  Groupon has had an online discount deal of-
fering “laser removal” of moles in a beauty salon.  There was no mention of medical assessment 
and lasering of moles could be potentially fatal if a melanoma, a type of skin cancer, were inad-
vertently removed. The normal practice is that any mole that is removed should be analysed in 
a laboratory, but if one removes or destroys a mole by laser, there is nothing to analyse.  Other 
laser treatments are being offered to patients at huge cost, with no proof that they work.  They 
are being offered to under-age patients.  Recently a 15 year old was offered something at the 
cost of €850, despite being under the age of consent.  Plastic surgeons are seeing patients who 
have had treatments in beauty salons.  I have had two patients in recent months who have had 
skin cancers treated in beauty salons.  Having said that, there are some excellent beauty thera-
pists who pick up on things and send people to their GP or other practitioners.

We are concerned that the incidence of purchasing prescription medication online for use on 
the purchaser or on others is rising.  We are also concerned that doctors with no postgraduate 
surgical qualifications and only a basic medical degree are operating on patients.  We are also 
concerned about misleading and false advertising.  There are many examples of this, including 
the use of unrealistic models in ads - these are not patients who have had any surgery - pho-
tos that are airbrushed, stock photos being used as examples of a practitioner’s own practice, 
prices stated as “from” when there is no realistic expectation of that price being offered, and so 
on.  We are also concerned about doctors who describe themselves as “qualified surgeons” or 
“leading experts”.  In one specific case, a doctor who is described as a qualified surgeon is not 
on any specialist register as a surgeon and appears on a general register only in both the United 
Kingdom and Ireland.

The use of the terms “cosmetic doctor” and “cosmetic surgeon” is also a matter of concern 
as these are unregulated terms that are not recognised by the Medical Council.  There is no 
syllabus, training or examinations in place for persons who describe themselves as cosmetic 
doctors or surgeons.

The use of the term “fully registered” is misleading.  Practitioners often describe themselves 
as being fully registered with the Medical Council to suggest that they are specialists.  Every 
doctor practising in Ireland must be fully registered.  The issue is one of breaking down the 
register to determine whether he or she is a trainee doctor, doctor on the general register or 
specialist.

Many other countries have legislated in this area.  The PIP implant case in France, which 
affected approximately 100,000 women, caused a major public outcry about the lack of regula-
tion in this area.  France and Denmark subsequently introduced legislation to ensure surgery 
is carried out only by those who are trained to do so.  Consumer groups have called for a ban 
on cosmetic surgery advertising on the basis that it is often misleading.  Legislation proposed 
in the United Kingdom includes measures to ban such advertising and provide for a register of 
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practitioners.

Safety is a key concern of the Irish Association of Plastic Surgeons and could be addressed 
in the areas of patients, practitioners, procedures and premises.  The patient should be a good 
candidate, be informed and have realistic expectations.  The practitioner must be properly 
trained.  Surgeons, for example, must be trained and possess the appropriate credentials, and 
non-surgical practitioners must be trained and possess credentials for the level at which they 
work.  The procedures should be appropriate for the patient and of proven effectiveness.  The 
premises should be an accredited and safe venue, with properly trained staff and provision for 
emergency treatment should such be necessary.

The Irish Association of Plastic Surgeons calls for the implementation of a number of so-
lutions, which are detailed in the document we have circulated.  Some or all of the European 
standard developed and passed this year should be implemented in legislation.  The standard is 
currently voluntary and will only become mandatory if it is implemented in legislation.  Some 
countries have already done so.  A regulatory or umbrella body should be established to oversee 
and co-ordinate the activities of bodies such as the Medical Council, the Irish Medicines Board, 
the Irish Nurses and Midwives Organisation and the Royal College of Surgeons in Ireland.  
These are all very good organisations but they act in isolation and without an overarching body 
to co-ordinate their activities in this area.

A register of practitioners should be established for those working in this field.  The register 
should contain divisions indicating the level at which each practitioner operates, for example, 
whether he or she is a therapist, nurse, dentist, specialist doctor, etc.  Members of the public 
must have confidence that surgery will be carried out by a surgeon who is trained to perform the 
procedures in question.  In addition, procedures must be assessed and medical devices should 
be only FDA or CE approved.  Consideration should also be given to introducing a national 
breast implant registry.  Many of those affected in the PIP case still find it difficult to determine 
if they had PIP implants.

Premises should be fit for purpose and accredited and systems should be in place to look 
after patients during surgery and afterwards, particularly in the event of an emergency.  Cooling 
off periods should be recommended and good data protection measures followed.  It should be 
mandatory to follow what would be considered normal guidelines.

We are aware that the Advertising Standards Authority of Ireland is reviewing its guidelines 
for medical advertising.  This review presents an opportunity to examine specifically cosmetic 
surgery advertising, as has been done in other countries.  It is necessary to strike a balance 
between providing information and avoiding manipulation of those who are vulnerable.  The 
experience of other European Union countries should be considered, for example, steps to pro-
hibit practices such as advertising to those aged under 18 years, placing advertisements in 
public places, including radio and television, and using incentives such as two-for-one deals or 
discounts where purchases are made before a certain date.  These practices have been shown 
not to be in the best interests of patients.

While I have tried to keep the presentation brief, I will be pleased to provide details of cases, 
without naming individuals, involving the types of treatments about which we are concerned.

Chairman: I invite Ms Kelly to make her presentation.

Ms Siobhan Kelly: I thank members for providing the Irish College of Ophthalmologists, 
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ICO, with the opportunity to address the joint committee.  The ICO is the training and profes-
sional body for eye doctors in Ireland.  One of our key concerns is to ensure that members of 
the public are educated about and aware of good eye care practices.

To reiterate Mrs. O’Donnell’s point, the decision to have a medical or surgical procedure 
can have a profound impact on the health and well-being of patients and their families.  While 
there is little doubt that a medical or cosmetic procedure can be positive for patients when un-
dertaken by trained specialists with appropriate aftercare, it is essential that patients receive bal-
anced information.  Advertising is a legitimate and important source of information for mem-
bers of the public and can help to inform patients of services and treatment options.  However, 
important questions arise in this regard.  For example, given the potential significance of the 
decisions involved, is regulation in the area of direct advertising to patients required to ensure 
they receive unbiased information?

Providers use advertising and marketing to compete for consumers.  While advertising can 
play a positive role, it can also have a negative effect, particularly if it trivialises the risks of 
procedures, targets vulnerable consumers or misleads by portraying an outcome that may not 
be attainable for all.  For some people, cost is more likely to influence their decision than the 
qualifications of the person doing the procedure and the quality of care he or she provides.  
Trivialising surgery to the point that the decision to proceed is solely based on cost is not com-
patible with the prioritising of patient safety and quality outcomes.

Ireland does not have specific legislation in place governing direct-to-patient advertising.  
There are no requirements that advertisements or marketing material provide any information 
on the health risks of procedures.  Both surgical and non-surgical interventions can have a seri-
ous impact on an individual’s health and well-being, yet questionable advertising trivialises the 
procedures and presents them as a desirable commodity.

As cost is the key deciding factor for some people choosing a procedure or provider, finan-
cial inducements are likely to have an impact on purchasing behaviour.  Discounts for proce-
dures or offering procedures as competition prizes may impair an individual’s ability to give 
proper thought to what is being offered.  Time-limited deals, which offer discounts within a 
certain timeframe, allow little or no opportunity for proper consideration of the risks involved.

The current regulatory system needs to be updated to provide clearer rules through which 
to hold advertisers to account and which reflect the changing market, particularly the signifi-
cant growth in non-surgical procedures and increasing use of digital marketing.  Standards 
must ensure that advertising is conducted in a socially responsible manner.  Advertising and 
marketing practices should not trivialise the seriousness of procedures or encourage people to 
undergo them hastily.  Any claims must be based on high-quality evidence and should not raise 
unrealistic expectations.

The Irish College of Ophthalmologists proposes that statutory restrictions be imposed on 
the advertising of medical and surgical procedures.  The advertising regulations which apply to 
solicitors are an appropriate framework and one that should be considered.

Deputy  Caoimhghín Ó Caoláin: I welcome the panel and thank its members for their 
presentations.  The written submissions contain an extensive exposé - that is the appropriate 
description - of the issues and areas the witnesses have addressed.  It would be appropriate to 
refer both of the documents on unregistered practitioners of cosmetic surgery and the document 
prepared by the Irish College of Ophthalmologists directly to the Minister for Health.  It is im-
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portant that the substantial detail provided in these documents should not be parked at this point 
for the joint committee to edit before submission.  My first proposition is that they be submitted 
urgently and in their entirety.

Some time ago, several of the so-called PIP women appeared before the joint committee.  
They will not take offence at my use of that term to describe them as it is one they themselves 
have used.  The reason I am particularly anxious that both submissions be forwarded to the 
Minister and his Department is because I do not want to see another group of women being 
exploited in this way or being placed in the most dangerous of situations.  That is not an ex-
aggeration.  The examples cited by Mrs. O’Donnell in her submission are horrendous.  I can 
understand the pressures that can apply and how people can feel compelled to take particular 
actions, but they are doing so without any proper advice of the possible consequences and, what 
is worse, are placing themselves in the hands of people who are not qualified to do what they 
suggest they can do.  That laser treatment of skin cancer is being undertaken by beauty thera-
pists with no medical or nursing training is horrendous.  It is also crazy that qualified doctors 
are carrying out particular procedures despite their having no surgical qualification.

On the breast implant issue, I am aware, the representatives of PIP having appeared before 
this committee, that there is no breast implant registry in Ireland, which is a serious deficiency.  
One would think, given the rounded assessment of all that happened in this area, that the lessons 
would have been learned.  What happened occurred not only because the implants used were 
deficient but also because there were serious deficiencies in the provider sector in this country, 
even to the point that they could close their doors and walk away, leaving people high and dry, 
and they have done so.  That this period of time has elapsed and we still do not have a registry 
or any signalled intent of the imposition of such restriction is a serious matter.

I have no specific questions for the delegates as this is not a question issue.  What the or-
ganisations have done is, once again, alerted this committee to a situation that should not obtain 
in Ireland today.  Women are the target.  It is unacceptable that despite this issue having been 
addressed, although I acknowledge not in the same detailed and focused way, the problem areas 
continue.  As I said, the committee should forward both submissions to the Minister for Health, 
Deputy Varadkar, and urge that he and his Department take appropriate action and engage with 
the HSE post-haste.

Senator  John Crown: I welcome my colleagues and friends here today.  It is important 
that people understand exactly what it is that plastic surgeons do.  There is a tendency based on 
popular literature to trivialise facelifts and cosmesis etc.  Plastic surgeons are also the doctors 
who deal with the substantial chunk, if not the majority, of serious skin cancer cases, who play 
a critical role in managing breast cancer and who do unbelievably heroic work dealing with 
people with severe and life-threatening burns.  All of my colleagues here who are involved in 
plastic surgery will have had the experience of dealing with people who have suffered horrific 
burns and managing them through severe illnesses.  Despite their youth, these are people who 
over the past ten or 15 years will have seen extraordinary improvements in the outcomes for 
patients with terrible injuries.  The issue of who plastic surgeons are is very important in this 
country.

I am sure some of my colleagues will raise their eyes to heaven when I ask the following 
question because it is one I ask of every medical specialty group that appears before the com-
mittee.  What is the number of plastic surgeons per head of population in Ireland?  How do we 
compare in this regard with the UK and, in general, to continental Europe and North America?  
The need for regulation in this area is striking.  There are few areas in medicine in respect of 
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which there are direct appeals made over the heads of general practitioners by alleged spe-
cialists in non-professional literature to encourage people to come for treatments which range 
from the unproven to the dangerous to the inappropriately applied.  There is a problem here.  
To put this in context, and I obviously have a particular axe to grind because of my interest in 
cancer, particularly melanoma, we have a melanoma emergency in this country that people are 
not twigging.  The incidence of potentially fatal melanoma in this country has approximately 
tripled over a 14-year period.  Dr. Ormond may correct me if I am wrong but I believe the fig-
ures in this regard are 400 in 1998 to 800 in 2008 to approximately 1,200 in 2012.  This is a 
uniquely Irish problem because as we are designed by providence to be under grey misty skies 
we do not have the same natural protection that other ethnic groups have against the sun, yet 
for various cultural reasons we very unwisely expose ourselves to the sun.  It is critically im-
portant that we get the panoply of issues around dermatology and plastic surgery correct.  We 
need more dermatologists to ensure quicker access by GPs in terms of referral of patients who 
have a spot which potentially could be serious or life threatening.  We do not have this right 
now.  While there has been an improvement in terms of rapid access, we still have far too few 
people in these areas.

For several months last year there was no dermatologist in the sunny south east of Ireland.  
I am not suggesting there was not one in Dunmore East, Dungarvan or Enniscorthy, rather that 
there was no dermatologist in the whole of the south east, which is emblematic perhaps of a 
more profound problem in terms of how health care in this country is planned.  I warmly wel-
come the attendance of my colleagues at this meeting.  I am not, in terms of my remarks, being 
disrespectful of the critical role of the ophthalmologists in this area.  That is another day’s work.  
I believe there is also a need to invest in ophthalmic and ophthalmological services in this coun-
try.  I ask that my colleagues take the issue under discussion today very seriously.

I would welcome if Mrs. O’Donnell could, when replying, say if the European standard has 
been translated into law in any country.

Senator  Colm Burke: I thank the delegations for their presentations.  In August 2013, 
when drafting legislation requiring that it be compulsory that all medical practitioners have in-
surance, I met the secretary of the Irish Association of Plastic Surgeons.  Some of the stories the 
secretary told me were quite frightening, including how the association regularly has to pick up 
the pieces when people come to its members to have rectified cosmetic surgery that was carried 
out in Ireland by a person from abroad who was not qualified and had left the country.  Since 
that meeting I have published the Private Members’ Bill requiring that it be compulsory for all 
medical practitioners to have insurance.  A person wishing to drive a car must have insurance.  
As a solicitor, before practising, I am required to have insurance, yet medical practitioners are 
not required to have insurance.  I know that the Government recently signed off on a new Bill 
in this area.

I would like to hear from the delegates if they believe making it compulsory for all medical 
practitioners to have insurance will solve some of the problems in this area.  I accept it will not 
resolve all of the problems but would it be of help in addressing this issue?  Are the delegates 
satisfied that the penalties that can be imposed where a person does not comply with current 
legislation are adequate?  Have the delegates examined the proposed legislation to make it com-
pulsory that every person providing medical care has insurance and, if so, is there in their view 
anything further that can be done to improve it?

The second issue to which I wish to refer falls slightly outside our guests’ area of expertise.  
One of the matters that has come to my attention in recent months relates to the number of 
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people who are engaged in providing services which are beyond their levels of competence.  It 
appears that everyone is buying scanning machines.  In that context, I understand the insurance 
currently offered to general practitioners does not cover the use of such machines.  I heard an 
entertaining story recently about a person who had a pacemaker fitted and who had attended a 
medical practitioner’s practice for a routine check-up.  During the check-up the medical prac-
titioner in question decided to scan the pacemaker.  I do not know what was the point of doing 
so.  It is odd - this is not just happening in the area of cosmetic surgery - that people are offering 
certain additional services.  How can we ensure that, even though individuals may be quali-
fied and competent in providing particular services, they cannot just automatically expand the 
range of services they offer without first undergoing the necessary training and that they have 
adequate insurance cover in the event that any service they provide proves inadequate?

Senator  Jillian van Turnhout: I thank our guests for raising this critical issue with the 
committee and Senator John Crown for ensuring it was included in our agenda.  I agree with 
Deputy Caoimhghín Ó Caoláin that our guests’ presentations were very clear and that they 
should be forwarded, unedited, to the Minister and his Department.  I become very concerned 
when people refer to Groupon offers and patient safety issues.  Our guests have clearly indicat-
ed that if a mole is removed by means of laser treatment in a beauty salon, it cannot be checked 
there to see if it is cancerous.  

I am also concerned about advertising.  I did a quick search on Google in respect of plas-
tic or reconstructive surgery and discovered that it was all focused on beauty.  Senator John 
Crown correctly highlighted the importance of reconstructive surgery in particular instances.  
However, I am concerned by the focus on beauty and the two-for-one offers to which Ms Kelly 
referred.  Even having listened to our guests’ presentations, I would not be able to distinguish 
which of the various websites are legitimate and which are not.  This is another major cause of 
concern, as is the liberal use of the terms “our specialists” or “our consultants” on the websites 
in question.  I agree, therefore, that there is a need for regulation.

I again thank our guests for bringing this matter to our attention.  It is unusual that members 
do not have further questions to ask, but this is because our guests have outlined the position 
so well for us.

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: I thank our guests for attending.  I do not know which one of 
them was on my local radio station this morning, but I heard it stated that, after being involved 
in his practice for one year, he could call himself a surgeon.  That is a scary thought, particularly 
as such a doctor does not have to have his name included in the list of specialists.  What type of 
insurance is required for someone to open a cosmetic surgery clinic?  Has anyone been found 
guilty of malpractice in this country in recent times?  I refer to therapists, nurses, dentists and 
doctors in this regard.  

How many breast implant procedures are carried out in this country each year?  Are com-
plaints made and, if so, to whom are they made?  If a particular procedure is botched, is there 
anywhere to which the person involved can go for emergency surgery?  

I am really concerned about the fitting of gastric bands which people seem to think can pro-
vide a quick fix in dealing with weight issues.  They are high-risk devices which could result in 
people dying.  Are many such operations carried out in Ireland?

I accept that many of the procedures under discussion relate to the lifestyle choices people 
make.  For example, there are many individuals who may wish to have cosmetic surgery per-
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formed on their eyes, forehead, chin, nose, etc.  However, the stories one hears about such 
procedures are frightening and we must alert people to what is happening.  The sooner we get 
things up and running the better.

Deputy  Catherine Byrne: I thank our guests for attending.  It is sometimes difficult to 
pose appropriate questions.  Every day of the week people are bombarded with images and 
advertisements via television, radio and the Internet.  Regardless of whether we like it, this has 
become our reality.  I recently met a lady who was over 90 years of age.  I asked her why she 
had such lovely skin and she informed me that she used a drop of rainwater and Oil of Olay on 
it each day and that she ate good food.  If that is an advertisement, we should print copies of it.  
I have young daughters and image is very important to them.  They watch many what I would 
term “mad” shows on television - I will not name them because I do not wish to give them free 
advertising - and they are all about image, clothing, make-up and looks.  I recently watched a 
film on television with two of my daughters and discovered that a person whom I had always 
thought was a very attractive young actress had become a different woman.  When I said her 
name, my daughters informed me that I was wrong, but it turned out that I was correct.  The 
botched job done on this woman’s face and lips is absolutely appalling and she looks like a dif-
ferent person.  She has been a movie icon for many young people for the past 20 years.

Matters become very difficult for young people when they are bombarded with the images 
and advertisements to which I refer.  One of my daughters recently completed a course on 
cosmetics at the Dún Laoghaire Institute of Art, Design and Technology.  She thought that she 
would immediately break into films as a make-up artist, but the reality has hit home that this 
is not going to happen.  She has a temporary job at a make-up counter in a particular store.  I 
asked her in recent days whether this was what she wanted to do for the remainder of her life.  
She informed me that it was but that she wanted to do it right.  Even though young people are 
bombarded with advertising images, they are still very clever when it comes to what they want 
to do and how they want to do it.  When we were talking, my daughter came to the realisation 
that so many people had cosmetic surgery which they either did not need or which - if it was 
necessary - was a complete failure.

I absolutely agree with what Senator John Crown said about reconstructive surgery.  A 
young man I have come to know very well in recent years contracted very bad cancer of the face 
and the wonderful job done by doctors to allow him to live his life from day to day is amazing.

Ms Kelly referred to buy-one-get-one-free offers.  People can go into their local euro shops 
or pharmacies and try on non-prescription spectacles.  When they discover they can read the 
little card on the stand in front of them, they suddenly become eye experts.  How can pharma-
cists who operate legitimate businesses allow such stands to be placed on their premises?  The 
people who buy such glasses are deciding for themselves whether they are short sighted or far 
sighted.  I do not know whether it is to such matters that Ms Kelly is referring, but I have a real 
issue with this behaviour.  I know many young people who wear glasses for image purposes.  
There is nothing wrong with their eyes and they buy glasses simply because they think they 
look great wearing them.  Will Ms Kelly indicate whether this is the type of thing to which she 
is referring?

Deputy  Sandra McLellan: I welcome our guests and thank them for their comprehensive 
presentations, in which they highlight and expose a large number of unacceptable and danger-
ous practices.  I read the material provided last night and, to be honest, came across things 
which would never have previously come to mind.  If one were to walk into one of these sur-
geries or beauty salons and see certificates on the wall, which indicate the relevant individual is 
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fully registered with the Irish Medical Council, etc., rightly or wrongly, one would presume that 
the person in question was qualified to do the job one wanted him or her to do.  They have high-
lighted everything in great detail.  The one that came to mind was moles being zapped without 
any analysis being done on them, with a knock-on effect further down the road in terms of skin 
cancer.  One presumes, if one goes to a surgeon to have cosmetic surgery performed, that one 
is going to a qualified surgeon, not a medical doctor who is not a surgeon.  Rightly or wrongly, 
I would have presumed that the people in question were qualified and I am sure many in the 
general population think the same and fail to take on board the bad practices and consequences 
waiting for them down the road.

What happens with complaints and where surgery goes wrong if we do not have databases 
and records?  How are these things followed up?  Have there been deaths attributable to bad 
practice?  What happens in that instance?  Is there an age of consent?  Can young children 
undergo this surgery and are there consequences in that regard?  I am interested in our guests’ 
opinions on these issues.  I thank them, as I have learned a great deal from their comprehensive 
presentations.

Deputy  Seamus Healy: I welcome our guests and thank them for their excellent presenta-
tions.  

I concur with Senator John Crown on the dermatology service in the south east.  Coming 
from south Tipperary, I am very aware of the inadequate service in the south east, particularly 
south Tipperary, which has always been less than adequately served by way of an outreach ser-
vice from what is now Waterford University Hospital.  Does Dr. Ormond have any comment to 
make on developments in the last while in the south east in dermatology services?

Have there been consultations with our guests in the context of the new Advertising Stan-
dards Authority for Ireland guidelines?  Is there a need for the joint committee to consult and 
make recommendations to the authority in this area?

Mrs. Margaret O’Donnell: I note that no member of the Irish Association of Plastic Sur-
geons used PIP implants and that they were never used in any of the public hospitals for breast 
reconstruction after a mastectomy or in any of the mainstream private hospitals.  Their use 
was confined to commercial clinics and the biggest user has gone out of business.  I have seen 
patients with this problem find their way to me.  I have other patients who do not know what 
implants they received, only that they were operated on in that clinic.  It is a big concern and a 
registry would have been useful in tracking down the type of implant used in these cases.  The 
Australians have set up a database which they are willing to share with other countries; there-
fore, there is a model offered free of charge which is something that could be looked into here.

Two members asked about deaths.  A women died in Dublin in 2007 after gastric banding 
surgery.  That was despite her GP having recommended that she not undergo the procedure 
owing to other health problems.  We do not know if there have been other deaths; that one 
was highly publicised.  As there are no statistics, we cannot tell the joint committee how many 
breast implants are provided in the country.  There is no registry and no database indicating 
the amount of cosmetic surgeries or other procedures undertaken.  The evidence from other 
countries is that the number of non-surgical cases is rising massively and that such procedures 
are being performed across the board by all sorts of practitioner.  It is correct to say services 
are being provided beyond the competence of the people providing them.  People can set up 
with any kind of machine or device without restriction.  That is where a register of practitioners 
would help to clarify matters, as one would know if one was seeing a beauty therapist or a plas-
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tic surgeon trained to treat X, Y or Z condition.  An ophthalmologist should not be providing 
breast implants but performing eye surgery.  This has been done in other countries.  In France 
and Denmark legislation has been enacted to identify the procedures that can be undertaken by 
each category of practitioner.

Chairman: Is there a beauty therapist code of practice or regulation?

Mrs. Margaret O’Donnell: There is a European standard for beauty therapists, many of 
whom are excellent.  Often they will pick up on something and send a person to his or her GP.  
There is a European standard and code of practice for beauty therapy, but it is one of these 
grey areas.  If we look at whether something is medical or consumer-led, somebody mentioned 
lifestyle choices.  I agree.  If somebody is seeking medical treatment, a doctor is obliged to 
treat him or her in his or her best interests.  Therefore, one cannot sell the person the thing that 
is most expensive.  One treats the patient in his or her best interests.  If someone comes for 
a lifestyle choice as a consumer, the gates are open.  That is the problem.  The more one can 
sell, the more money one can make.  There is a blurring between what is medical and what is 
consumer-led and, with a little thought, people could declare themselves to be one or the other.  
Patients come to me saying they had conducted all their research and were surprised that X, Y 
or Z happened.  One is looking at them and thinking the research just involved looking at the 
biggest and glossiest website.  It is very difficult for someone who does not understand the nu-
ances of the qualifications of practitioners to make a clear decision.

Senator  John Crown: I want to be clear on a legislative solution to the problem.  Mrs. 
O’Donnell referred specifically to the European standard for surgery.  Are the bones of it in law 
in any European country?

Mrs. Margaret O’Donnell: There are components of it in law.  As a standard, it is volun-
tary and the lowest minimum standard that was acceptable throughout Europe.

Senator  John Crown: In theory, if a law was drafted here which included its elements, it 
would be all right.

Mrs. Margaret O’Donnell: That would be huge.  It covers all sorts of thing, including the 
disposal of clinical waste, data protection, the training of practitioners and staff, premises and 
procedures.  

Members asked about figures.

Ms Patricia Eadie: There is approximately one person in public practice per 225,000 per-
sons.  In the United Kingdom there is approximately one plastic surgeon per 100,000 and it is 
hoped to get the number down to about one in 80,000.  I do not know off the top of my head 
what the figures are in other European countries.

Dr. Patrick Ormond: I do not have an exact figure, but there are in the region of 40 der-
matologists throughout the country, some of whom are in private practice.  Certainly, we have 
one of the lowest rates of dermatologists in Europe and probably in the developed world.  That 
is an ongoing problem and many European countries are trying to train sufficient dermatolo-
gists quickly enough to meet the growing demand, in particular to treat skin cancer, given our 
genetic skin types.

With regard to dermatology services in Waterford, there was an unfortunate and long-term 
problem where an unsupported single dermatologist managed a huge population of over 250,000 
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people and eventually I suppose broke under the pressure of trying to cope with the potential 
risk to patients.  The only way he could be taken seriously was to resign which, unfortunately, 
he did.  A second dermatologist who was appointed at the time is on maternity leave.  There 
was no dermatology service in Waterford.  The patients have since been taken up by spreading 
them throughout the functioning departments in Cork and St. James’s, Tallaght and Vincent’s 
hospitals.  However, these are departments that are already understaffed.

Ms Siobhan Kelly: Regarding eye surgeons, there are approximately 35 public appointees 
and 22 community ophthalmic positions.  We would always argue for additional posts.

Chairman: We are returning to Deputy Catherine Byrne’s point about the chemist and the 
people.

Ms Siobhan Kelly: We are not talking about two for one spectacles.  Our concern is adver-
tising that suggests that one could have laser eye surgery done on two eyes for the price of one.

Mrs. Margaret O’Donnell: The age of consent for medical treatment is 16.  It is unclear 
whether beauty therapies such as fillers, injections and laser treatments come under medical 
treatment or a consumer purchase.  Our association has a guideline that 18 should be the age of 
consent for somebody considering breast implants and most of us would be slow to consider it 
for a patient aged 18.  In my practice, if somebody aged 18 or 20 comes in, he or she would usu-
ally bring a parent, more for advice rather than consent, and one tries to encourage this.  I have 
had patients who have decided to have implants removed.  One young woman said she went to 
a hotel where a clinic was doing a promotion with her friend who wanted implants.  She ended 
up having implants too because she felt she was getting a good deal.

Senator  Jillian van Turnhout: It is wrong.

Mrs. Margaret O’Donnell: It is wrong.

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: Could the witnesses elaborate on a conversation on a local radio 
station this morning to the effect that a GP can call himself or herself a surgeon after one year’s 
practice?  It is appalling.  A few months ago a lady appeared on TV3 who had spent €30,000 or 
€40,000 on cosmetic surgery.  We see television presenters and film stars getting facelifts.  Can 
somebody tell me what a facelift is?  It is to do with stressing one’s skin.  Does the skin get all 
dry and wrinkly?  How long does a facelift last?  Hip replacements last only a certain number of 
years and one is allowed only so many hips.  Is one allowed only a limited number of facelifts?

Ms Patricia Eadie: When speaking on the radio this morning, I did not mean to refer to 
GPs, who have to go through a training system, which is regulated by the Irish College of Gen-
eral Practitioners, ICGP.  Once one has done one’s internship, one can do surgery, if somebody 
will allow it.  There is nothing to say one cannot be a surgeon.  One does not need qualifications 
to make a cut on somebody’s skin.

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: Would one need some kind of insurance policy to open the 
practice?

Ms Patricia Eadie: One needs insurance to open a practice.  However, as Senator Colm 
Burke has said, people take out an insurance policy to cover a whole clinic and it is an enterprise 
liability scheme rather than having proper professional indemnity for each practitioner.

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: Is this a loophole in the system?
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Ms Patricia Eadie: Yes.  Earlier, the Deputy asked to whom patients complain.  A patient 
who has a complaint about any doctor takes it to the Irish Medical Council, IMC.  Previously, 
the fly-in-fly-out doctors - they fly in to do an operation and fly out again - did not have to be 
registered with the IMC.  Although they are now registered with the IMC, in our experience 
they do not always come back to address complaints.

Chairman: If a patient is left with a botched job, who addresses the issue?

Ms Patricia Eadie: If it is an emergency, the patient ends up in the public hospital system 
and is treated as such.  For example, in St. James’s Hospital we have treated people who have 
had a tummy tuck operation after which the skin has opened up and broken down.  In a case 
such as an awful looking breast implant, the person will, hopefully, contact a qualified surgeon 
and have it redone.

Senator  Colm Burke: Is Ms Eadie happy that the legislation on insurance that is going 
through will make some changes?

Ms Patricia Eadie: It will help.

Senator  Colm Burke: Will the penalties for somebody not having insurance be adequate?  
Has this been considered?  There is no point in bringing forward legislation if somebody can 
ignore it and continue to provide a service without adequate insurance.  What does the standard 
insurance provided to GP practices cover?  Does it cover cosmetic surgery and scanning?  The 
public needs to know.  The standard GP has a comprehensive policy for a GP but there are limits 
to what it will cover.  If one has car insurance, one is not covered to drive an articulated lorry; 
likewise, a GP policy covers a doctor for general practice only.  This issue must be clarified be-
cause people seem to be happy to accept the service being offered without fully understanding 
that the person offering it does not have adequate insurance.

Mrs. Margaret O’Donnell: It is very difficult to answer because I do not know.  Every 
member of the Irish Association of Plastic Surgeons, IAPS, has personal professional indemnity 
insurance.  If a commercial clinic has doctors, nurses or therapists, I do not know whether those 
people have professional indemnity in addition to the enterprise insurance.  If I were to laser a 
patient to erase red veins or brown marks, it would come under my professional indemnity as 
a plastic surgeon, which costs a phenomenal amount of money.  A therapist doing a laser treat-
ment on the same lesion does not pay anything like the same amount.  The Senator is correct, 
in that separate insurance is required for a truck or a car.  While the Medical Protection Society, 
MPS, which insures most surgeons, asks for one’s range of practice, it is a bit blurred in cases 
where people are working outside their level of competence, as the Deputy described.  I can see 
where the problems are, if that helps us find the answers.

Chairman: Is there no regulation at all, or limited regulation, on the cosmetic surgery in-
dustry?

Ms Patricia Eadie: There is no regulation.

Chairman: None at all?

Ms Patricia Eadie: No.

Chairman: Ms Eadie referred to the fly-in-fly-out doctors.

Ms Patricia Eadie: They must now be registered with the IMC.  However, if a doctor’s 
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home base is Italy or somewhere else, he or she might decide never to return to Ireland.

Senator  Colm Burke: Under new legislation, they will have to have insurance.

Mrs. Margaret O’Donnell: Although the insurance will at least compensate the patient, it 
will not help regulation or stop issues arising in the first place.

Senator  John Crown: It will be a de facto degree of regulation.

Mrs. Margaret O’Donnell: However, many of the clinics just hire somebody else.  It has 
been a revolving door.

Chairman: Has the IAPS engaged with the Health Products Regulatory Board?

Mrs. Margaret O’Donnell: Yes, for example it regulates botulinum toxin, whose common 
trade name is Botox.  As it is a drug, it can be administered only by a doctor.  A few weeks 
ago, a beauty therapist was fined €6,000 for importing Botox online from another country and 
administering it to patients.  Importing and administering a medication without a prescription 
and without being a practitioner is against the law.

Chairman: Deputy Fitzpatrick’s comment prompts me to ask this.  If one walks into a 
beauty therapy salon and is offered Botox as part of a two-for-one deal, must it be a medical 
practitioner who injects the Botox?

Mrs. Margaret O’Donnell: Yes, by law.

Chairman: If I go to a beautician tomorrow and sign up to get Botox, is there nothing in 
theory preventing the beauty therapist from injecting the Botox?

Mrs. Margaret O’Donnell: The law would prevent it.

Chairman: Who monitors and regulates the beauty therapists?

Mrs. Margaret O’Donnell: It is a question of regulation.  The beauty therapists would 
have a code of practice; I do not know to what extent it is enforced.  A dermal filler is also ad-
ministered by injection and is put under the skin to get rid of wrinkles.  A filler is classified as 
a device because it is not an active agent.  Although it is injected, it is a device.  It is open to 
anybody to use because it does not require a doctor.  Fillers are of great concern in the United 
Kingdom, where the authorities have said there is more regulation for a ballpoint pen that for 
dermal fillers.  That is a problem.

A concern associated with people spending vast amounts of money is a condition called 
body dismorphic disorder.  Perhaps 2% or 3% of the population have a condition whereby they 
do not see themselves in the way others see them, and they are attracted to more and more pro-
cedures.  A number of them have body dismorphic disorder.  It is part of a surgeon’s training 
to be aware not only of the technical and academic aspects but also of the moral and ethical 
aspects.  It involves identifying patients who give rise to concern and in respect of whom a 
procedure may be more harmful than good.

Chairman: Deputy Fitzpatrick had a question about facelifts.

Mrs. Margaret O’Donnell: The true facelift is a surgical procedure.  Typically, it takes ap-
proximately six hours.



JOINT COMMITTEE ON HEALTH AND CHILDREN

15

Chairman: In one go?

Mrs. Margaret O’Donnell: Yes.  It is a major procedure, with a high risk of complications, 
including serious permanent complications.  It is not to be done lightly and it takes a number 
of weeks to recover.  Done well, a facelift can have lovely and very natural looking results.  It 
is frustrating that some of these kinds of procedures are sometimes touted as being all bad.  If 
carried out properly, one can look natural and good.

The non-surgical facelift is becoming more common.  It is not an operation.  A wide variety 
of practitioners are offering this, using the name “facelift”.  What they are doing is giving injec-
tions and laser treatments.  Botox gets rid of some of the wrinkle lines, and fillers are used to 
get rid of others.  Lasers are used to get rid of fine lines or discolouration.   All sorts of names 
are used to describe the combination of these treatments.  There is a facelift called the “Dracula 
facelift” whereby some blood from the system is aspirated and spun around in a centrifuge, after 
which one re-injects the serum from it.  There is no proof that it works but it is being offered for 
vast amounts of money.  With a catchy name, it captures the public imagination.

Chairman: Dracula will do that anyway.  It is scary.

Mrs. Margaret O’Donnell: It is frustrating because many people are being misled.

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: For how long does it last?

Mrs. Margaret O’Donnell: If one had it done, one could reverse the clock a bit.  One 
would lose some of the saggy skin and in ten years’ time one might look younger than one’s 
contemporaries.  One still ages; the clock starts again.  One does not stay at the perceived age 
forever because the skin loosens and gradually stretches over time.  One would get ten to 15 
years out of the procedure.

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: Does the skin actually loosen again?

Mrs. Margaret O’Donnell: Yes.  Gravity applies and life happens.  Over time, the skin 
gradually stretches.  It is the same with all these procedures.  One needs to give the recipient 
the long-term view.

Chairman: Forgive me for not remembering the answer.  Roughly how many people pres-
ent for cosmetic surgery in Ireland per annum?

Mrs. Margaret O’Donnell: I have no idea.

Chairman: There is no register of that either.

Mrs. Margaret O’Donnell: No

Chairman: I wish to ask Dr. Ormond about dermatology.  A constituent contacted me one 
day about microdermabrasion carried out by a beauty therapist.  Is that an issue for a doctor, 
dermatologist or beauty treatment centre?  The constituent was badly burnt as a consequence 
of what happened.

Dr. Patrick Ormond: Microdermabrasion, which essentially involves using a very fine 
blast of fine particles to resurface and smoothen the skin — think of sanding and polishing a 
table — can be beneficial, like all the cosmetic procedures that can be done.  However, there is 
always a subset of people to whom the procedures will cause damage.  It is important to have 
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properly qualified practitioners because they know what is abnormal before they start.  We are 
trained to recognise disease and what is abnormal so we will know not to treat such conditions.  
Dermatologists, plastic surgeons and ophthalmologists go through such a long period of train-
ing to learn what is abnormal and when a problem will develop so they will not laser a potential 
skin cancer or carry out a surgical procedure on somebody with a bleeding disorder.

Microdermabrasion, which is widely available in salons and beauticians’ practices, and pro-
cedures right up to full plastic surgery have benefits for patients, both psychologically and 
cosmetically, but they can also have an adverse effect, like everything in life.  To return to the 
points of Deputy Sandra McLellan and Senator Jillian van Turnhout, it is a question of knowing 
the facts.  When one sees the website or glossy magazine, one does not know what one is get-
ting; it is not clear.  Consumers and patients need clarity so that if they see a dermatologist or 
beautician, he or she will be qualified.  If they are seeing an ophthalmologist or plastic surgeon, 
they should know what they are getting.  It is a matter of the correct usage of wording and not 
playing around.  That is so important.  As always, the well educated and well connected will be 
sent to the right people.  However, it is perhaps the most vulnerable, because they are seeing 
the advertising, who will not know who to talk to or where to go for advice when thinking of 
having a breast lift or Botox.  They will be targeted by advertising.  Monitoring advertising and 
ensuring it does not mislead are important.  It is not only the actresses and soap stars who are 
having these procedures; people on the street are having them as perfectly normal procedures.  
It is trivialised in our everyday life, yet it is potentially life threatening.

I was asked whether there have been deaths.  Within the last four years of my practice, there 
have been two deaths from mismanaged moles in young men.

Chairman: Was that as a consequence of treatment outside Mr. Ormond’s practice?

Dr. Patrick Ormond: Yes.

Deputy  Seamus Healy: What is the position on the Advertising Standards Authority?

Mrs. Margaret O’Donnell: It is consulting the specialties.

Chairman: With regard to ophthalmology and getting laser treatment, I presume the pro-
cedures are done professionally.  They cannot be done by a five-eighth person setting up in the 
back of a garage or whatever.

Ms Siobhan Kelly: Yes.  I shall make a general point first.  We are not here to alarm people 
unnecessarily.  People have procedures all the time and are very happy with them.  Deputy Cao-
imhghín Ó Caoláin suggested it is mostly women who have them but the image issue affects 
both boys and girls.  We are looking to the future in this regard.  I am the mother of three young 
sons and believe these issues will affect both males and females.

Deputy  Caoimhghín Ó Caoláin: Deputy Fitzpatrick has confirmed that.

Ms Siobhan Kelly: It is really about awareness.  We live in an information society and it 
is very difficult to decipher what is reliable from what is not.  We have to move with the times.  
In the 1950s and 1960s, it was considered perfectly reasonable to advertise cigarette smoking.  
Therefore, we must really think this through and have as much expert input as possible.  We 
need to ensure that certain advertising standards govern information given to the public, and 
that is why we are here today.
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Senator  John Crown: My question is slightly off the topic of cosmetics and concerns other 
areas of plastics.  I had occasion recently to make inquiries on behalf of somebody whose child 
had suffered a severe burn injury abroad.  Do we have enough burn beds?  Do we have enough 
paediatric and adult burn beds?  Is the unit adequately staffed and resourced?

I have received a number of distressing items of correspondence from a few people with 
respect to the failure of insurance companies to cover them for reconstructive breast surgery 
when they have not had cancer but a clear-cut genetic syndrome meaning a very high likelihood 
of getting cancer.  Sadly, one of the most standard treatments is to recommend to the women 
that they have their breasts removed preventively before they could develop cancer.  An incred-
ibly integral component of cancer care is the making available of genetic testing, prophylactic 
surgery and reconstruction.  Does Mrs. O’Donnell care to comment on the current situation in 
that respect?

Mrs. Margaret O’Donnell: We will take Deputy Byrne’s question first.  I was the consul-
tant in charge of the national burns unit in St. James’s Hospital for ten years.  I am no longer, 
but Ms Eadie works there and maybe she will take the burns question.

Ms Patricia Eadie: I work in Crumlin hospital as well.  We do not have a paediatric burns 
unit.  Crumlin hospital takes paediatric burns greater than 10% of the body surface area, but we 
will pretty much take all burns.  We have had a major issue there in that we have a 20% reduc-
tion in our theatre space.  Recently we sent two burns cases to the United Kingdom because we 
felt we did not have the safe facilities to look after them here.  I refer to the paediatric burns.  It 
was because we do not have adequate theatre space.  We do not have a paediatric burns surgeon, 
despite having an application in for one for quite a number of years.

Senator  John Crown: Where is the blockage in that regard?  Is it that the post has not been 
approved or that no one is applying for it?

Ms Patricia Eadie: The post has not been financially approved.

Senator  John Crown: Your Honour, I rest my case.

Ms Patricia Eadie: The Department of Finance, basically.  It would start from the top in 
that we would need a lead surgeon around whom we would build the burns centre or unit.  We 
would want that surgeon to link in to St. James’s Hospital where the main burns centre is in 
order that there would be crossover between adults and paediatrics.

We have a 14-bed burns unit in St. James’s Hospital.  It has deficiencies.  We have a burns 
surgeon there who took over from Mrs. O’Donnell who was in the job previously.  He has major 
submissions in as well to try to upgrade that centre.  We have problems with the fact we can 
only have three intensive care unit beds there.  There can be times when we have not enough 
nursing staff to look after patients and we have had to say we cannot take any more burns cases.

Senator  John Crown: Where do they go?

Ms Patricia Eadie: They stay in the referring hospital until we have-----

Senator  John Crown: This is helpful and I thank Ms Eadie.  There are patients in the Re-
public who get severe burn injuries who cannot access specialist burns services.

Ms Patricia Eadie: In a timely manner.  They will get taken, maybe the following day or 
the next.
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Chairman: When Ms Eadie says “timely manner”, does she mean 24 hours, 48 hours or 
seven days?

Ms Patricia Eadie: Normally, with a major burn, we will take them straight away and look 
after them.  Generally, it is 24 hours.

Senator  John Crown: I presume there is a degree of time sensitivity as to whether one will 
survive a burn injury in terms of getting help.

Ms Patricia Eadie: Yes, the first few hours.

Senator  John Crown: Does Ms Eadie have any concerns that sometimes a patient’s sur-
vival is in danger of being compromised?

Ms Patricia Eadie: Yes.

Senator  John Crown: That is one big message we need to take from today.

Senator  Colm Burke: Given the total amount of cosmetic surgery done in Ireland, have we 
any idea of the number travelling abroad for cosmetic surgery?  Are we coming across problems 
where persons have gone abroad for cosmetic surgery, come back into the system here and it 
has had to pick up on mistakes made?

Mrs. Margaret O’Donnell: We do not have numbers but we know it is happening.  There 
are a lot of advertisements for having things done in different countries.  There is one big com-
mercial group which advertises in Ireland but takes the patients to the United Kingdom for the 
surgery, and then they come back to Ireland.  That is not terribly clear from the beginning and 
patients will see somebody locally in a clinic here, but the surgery is done elsewhere.  Those pa-
tients are not necessarily choosing to have their surgery elsewhere.  It happens that way.  Then 
there is a separate group who decide they will go on the cosmetic surgery tourism holiday and 
go for a beach trip after their treatment.  I have seen a couple of patients who have come back 
with problems.  That is not to say everybody will be treated badly but it makes it difficult for a 
patient coming back whenever he or she has a problem to seek follow-up.

Senator  Colm Burke: Is it happening, where patients are coming back into the service here 
after mistakes being made elsewhere?

Mrs. Margaret O’Donnell: Yes.

Deputy  Catherine Byrne: Two issues occurred to me while Mrs. O’Donnell was speak-
ing.  By comparison with other European countries, has she any statistics on the number in this 
country who have had professional cosmetic surgery?  I accept she cannot talk about the other 
scenario but I wonder in that regard.

As somebody who was badly burnt when I was aged four and who spent months in Dr. 
Steevens’ Hospital, I am shocked to think that we do not have in this country in this day and age 
a head surgeon for children with burns in the paediatric hospital that is serving the country and 
which is only a ten-minute walk from my home.  I am horrified.  I did not know that.  This is 
something the committee should look at.  If it is all down to finance, I can say this.

Chairman: In the context of the new national children’s hospital, have there been discus-
sions on a paediatric burns unit and a paediatric surgeon for that particular specialty?
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Ms Patricia Eadie: There will be an area in the national children’s hospital but in that 
hospital, which will be an amalgamation of the three children’s hospitals, there is no definite 
increase in the number of consultant staff or anything like that.  It will probably be what we 
have now.  We will come in with that.

Chairman: Is it the norm in other European countries to have a specific paediatric burns 
unit?

Ms Patricia Eadie: Yes.  It is usually adjacent to or close by the adult burns unit in order 
that expertise can be shared, because there are far more significant burns in the adult population 
and it is good that one can pool resources.

Mrs. Margaret O’Donnell: On Senator Crown’s comment about prophylactic mastectomy 
for patients with breast cancer, I utterly agree with him that we are having regular and ongoing 
difficulties in having those patients-----

Chairman: With the private health insurance companies?

Mrs. Margaret O’Donnell: Yes.

Senator  John Crown: Is one of those companies VHI Healthcare?

Chairman: We will not name the companies in public.

Senator  John Crown: VHI Healthcare is a public-----

Mrs. Margaret O’Donnell: It is across the board.  I have had experience.  I am regularly 
writing-----

Senator  John Crown: We cannot tell a private company what to do but VHI Healthcare 
has one shareholder who is the Minister for Health, Deputy Varadkar.

Mrs. Margaret O’Donnell: It is a regular matter of writing.  If they do have a mastectomy, 
there is a reluctance to have reconstruction, but that is a component part of having a mastectomy 
to prevent oncoming breast cancer.  The reconstruction would be our end of it.

Chairman: I propose as a consequence of this deliberation that we would continue to do 
further work around the issue of cosmetic surgery, that we might invite, as part of our delibera-
tions in the new year, the Health Products Regulatory Authority to seek an update on our discus-
sion, along with writing to the Advertising Standards Authority of Ireland regarding the issue 
of advertising, that we would write to the Minister for Health in the context of the presentations 
this morning, that we might consider inviting the Chief Medical Officer or the relevant Depart-
ment official in the context of the opening half of our discussion, that we would look at the issue 
of beauty therapy and beauty therapists in regulation, that we would as a consequence take up 
with the Minister the subject of our conversation on the issue of burns and the remarks made at 
this meeting, and that we would seek further clarification in that regard.

Deputy  Caoimhghín Ó Caoláin: I would make one addendum to the proposal I made in 
relation to the two written submissions.

Chairman: That is included.

Deputy  Caoimhghín Ó Caoláin: I accept that.  It is important that there is a cover note 
from the committee expressing our unanimous view that the information contained must not 
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only be noted, but acted upon with extreme urgency.  That is the only reason we are talking this 
course of action.

Chairman: Is that agreed?  Agreed.  I thank Ms Eadie, Mrs. O’Donnell, Ms Kelly and Dr. 
Ormond for being here this morning and for an interesting presentation.  Even though there may 
have been a levity and jocosity about some of the matters, it is a serious issue.  In their presen-
tation, they highlighted deficiencies.  They highlighted that in some cases there are vulnerable 
persons being targeted with the glossy image and the before and after pictures which, as they 
stated, sometimes are not the reality.  It is an issue we will revisit.

Sitting suspended at 11.20 a.m. and resumed at 11.35 a.m.

Prevention and Treatment of Lyme Disease: Discussion (Resumed)

Chairman: I thank members for their attendance at the second part of this meeting, which 
follows on from a previous meeting of the joint committee on the issue of Lyme disease.  I 
welcome to the meeting Dr. Colette Bonner, deputy chief medical officer and head of the health 
protection unit in the Department of Health, Dr. Darina O’Flanagan, director of the health 
protection surveillance centre in the Department of Health, Dr. Paul McKeown, specialist in 
public health medicine at the health protection surveillance centre in the Department of Health, 
and Dr. Bartley Cryan, consultant microbiologist at Cork University Hospital.  I also welcome 
the Lyme disease patient advocates and supporters in the Visitors Gallery and thank them for 
their presence.  Apologies have been received from Deputy Ó Caoláin who must attend another 
meeting.   Deputy McLellan, who is a member of the committee in her own right, will be an able 
stand-in.  Apologies also have been received from Seanad Members who have been obliged to 
go to a vote.

At the outset, I remind people to ensure their mobile telephones are switched off or are in 
aeroplane mode as otherwise they interfere with the broadcasting of proceedings and cause dif-
ficulties for staff.  Were people to do that, I would be most appreciative.  I remind people about 
privilege that witnesses are protected by absolute privilege in respect of the evidence they are 
to give to the committee.  However, if a witness is directed by the committee to cease giving 
evidence in respect of a particular matter and the witness continues to do so, they are entitled 
thereafter only to a qualified privilege in respect of evidence.  Witnesses are directed that only 
evidence connected with the subject matter of these proceedings is to be given and they are 
asked to respect the parliamentary practice that where possible they should not comment on, 
criticise or make charges against any person or entity by name in such a way as to make him or 
her identifiable.  Members are reminded of the long-standing parliamentary practice or ruling of 
the Chair to the effect that Members should not comment on, criticise or make charges against 
any person outside the House or an official either by name or in such a way as to make him or 
her identifiable.

I reiterate that our second session today pertains to the microbiology of Lyme disease and I 
again thank the witnesses for their attendance.  I invite Dr. Bonner to make her opening remarks.

Dr. Colette Bonner: I thank the Chairman and members of the joint committee for inviting 
me here today to speak on the issue of Lyme disease.  My two colleagues already have been 
introduced, namely, Dr. Darina O’Flanagan and Dr. Paul McKeown, director of and specialist 
in public health medicine, respectively, at the health protection surveillance centre.
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Lyme disease, also known as Lyme borrelliosis, is an infection caused by a spiral-shaped 
bacterium called borrelia burgdorferi.  It is transmitted to humans by bites from ticks infected 
with the bacteria.  Lyme borrelliosis was made statutorily notifiable in Ireland in 2011 by the 
Infectious Diseases (Amendment) Regulations 2011.  The notifiable entity is the more severe 
neurological form known as Lyme neuroborreliosis.  In 2012, there were nine cases of neu-
roborreliosis and, in 2013, there were 13 cases.  Up to December of 2014, we have had 20 
reported cases that have been provisionally notified in 2014.  However, it is expected that this 
number is likely to fall following validation of the numbers.  Due to the diverse and unspecific 
nature of the symptoms, a number of the less serious cases may not be diagnosed, leading to an 
under-reporting of cases.  Recent estimates suggest there may be up to 50 to 100 cases in Ireland 
per year.  The infection is generally mild, affecting only the skin, but can occasionally be more 
severe and highly debilitating.  Many infected people have no symptoms at all.  Complications 
following Lyme borrelliosis, while uncommon, do occur, though less frequently in Europe than 
in North America.  They tend to occur sometimes after initial infection and are more common 
in people who did not realise they had been infected or who were not initially treated.

Lyme borreliosis is diagnosed by medical history and physical examination.  It can be dif-
ficult if there has been no rash.  The rash is known as erythema migrans.  The infection is 
confirmed by blood tests, which look for antibodies produced by an infected person’s body in 
response to the infection.  These normally take several weeks to develop and may not be present 
in the early stage of disease.

Common antibiotics such as doxycycline or amoxicillin are effective at clearing the rash and 
helping to prevent the development of complications.  They are generally given for up to three 
weeks.  If complications develop, intravenous antibiotics may be required.  In order to produce 
a harmonised approach to the testing and treatment of Lyme borreliosis in Ireland, a consensus 
statement on the clinical management of Lyme borreliosis has been issued jointly from the sci-
entific advisory committee of the health protection surveillance centre, the Infectious Diseases 
Society of Ireland, the Irish Society of Clinical Microbiologists, the Irish Institute of Clinical 
Neuroscience and the Irish College of General Practitioners.  The purpose of the consensus is 
to ensure that patients in Ireland are clinically managed in a harmonised fashion using guidance 
produced with the most up-to-date evidence.

The health protection surveillance centre is establishing a Lyme borreliosis sub-committee 
with the primary aim of examining best practice in prevention and surveillance of Lyme disease 
and developing strategies to undertake primary prevention to minimise harm caused by Lyme 
borreliosis in Ireland.  This will involve raising awareness among clinicians and the public.  I 
hope the sub-committee will have its inaugural meeting during 2015.

Each year, as part of its ongoing awareness raising about Lyme disease and methods of pre-
vention or minimising potential exposure through tick bites, the health protection surveillance 
centre holds a Lyme disease awareness week, in which media releases are sent out with the 
intention that media outlets would take up the important Lyme prevention messages.  This year 
as part of the Lyme disease awareness week information was made available to the public and 
attention was drawn to a tick-borne disease toolkit, developed by the European Centre for Dis-
ease Prevention and Control.  This is available on the centre’s website.  The European Centre 
for Disease Prevention and Control has informed the health protection surveillance centre that 
Ireland is the first European Union member state to make such extensive use of this material.  I 
will hand over to my colleagues, who may answer any queries from committee members.

Dr. Bartley Cryan: I thank the committee for inviting me in to discuss the laboratory di-
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agnosis of Lyme disease.  I will outline a little about medical microbiologists, what we are and 
what we do.  There are approximately 40 of us in the country fulfilling approximately 30 whole 
time equivalent posts.  There are two or three of us in most of the major teaching hospitals scat-
tered throughout the country.

Generally speaking, our job is to manage the laboratories in conjunction with the senior sci-
entists, to develop the service and to engage in clinical liaison with our users.  They are largely 
hospital physicians and surgeons as well as general practitioners.  We are involved in infection 
control, antibiotic stewardship and teaching.  Our main function is to ensure that the right tests 
are done and are available for our catchment population, that they are interpreted correctly and 
that we are available to advise the clinicians on putting the patients on the correct treatment as 
well as monitoring that treatment and any further investigations that are required.

I work as a consultant medical microbiologist in Cork University Hospital.  I have been 
there since 1991.  Of significance, my prior position was as a lecturer in the Charing Cross and 
Westminster Medical School, where I was associated with the Lyme disease reference facility.  
I wrote several publications there which I have referenced in my submission.  The publication 
of most significance is Lyme disease in Ireland.  Under the study we reviewed the available 
Irish data from 1986.  It is of significance that several specialties and physicians in Ireland were 
actively searching for and investigating the diagnosis of Lyme borreliosis at that time.  In total, 
484 samples were sent to us.  A total of 14% of these were positive by the initial screening as-
says but only 13% were formally confirmed by the western blot.  These were spread throughout 
several specialties, largely neurology, rheumatology and dermatology.  People were actively 
searching for diagnoses for Lyme disease at the time and continue to do so.

The Cork University Hospital medical microbiology laboratory is one of the largest in the 
country.  We deal with almost 500,000 samples a year.  Approximately 50% of our work comes 
from general practitioners and approximately 50% comes from the hospitals under what used to 
be the southern health board.  We cater for a population of approximately 500,000.

We get many types of samples.  One point of significance to the committee is that we deal 
with approximately 180,000 serology or virology samples per year.  We run at approximately 
1,000 Lyme disease serologies per year.  Our testing tends to be seasonal, as is the nature of the 
illness.  We tend to get most of these in the autumn.  Of the 1,000 serologies that we examined 
in 2013 some 30 were confirmed positive cases.  We send all our positive enzyme immunoas-
say tests, which we carry out in-house, to the rare and imported pathogens laboratory, which 
is the United Kingdom reference laboratory for Lyme disease.  That laboratory carries out an 
enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay test.  Then it does the western blots and reports back to us.

As previously mentioned by Dr. Bonner, Lyme disease results from the transmission of Bor-
relia burgdorferi by hard bodies, Ixodes ticks.  The ticks need to be attached to the patient for 
over 24 hours for transmission to occur.  The disease was first identified by Steere et al in 1975 
and the organism was identified by Willi Burgdorfer, who died recently, in 1981.

In the United States, where the disease is more numerous and of more significance, between 
10% and 20% of untreated patients will go on to develop nervous system symptoms.  Arthritis 
will develop in approximately half of those cases.  Arthritis is far more common in the United 
States than in Europe and this is related to the different species.  The common species in Ireland 
is Borrelia garinii, which tends to give rise to skin and neurological signs but rarely arthritis.  
Generally speaking, the Borrelia burgdorferi sensu stricto, the specific strain which occurs in 
the United States, is more pathogenic.
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Traditionally, infections and all illnesses are diagnosed by eliciting the appropriate clinical 
signs and characteristic symptoms.  Then, the diagnosis is confirmed by detecting or growing 
the implicated organism in the infected tissue.  When we can do that, we can make a firm diag-
nosis of an illness.  Unfortunately, organisms like Borrelia burgdorferi and spirochetes in gen-
eral are difficult to grow.  Therefore, we cannot apply the normal standards that we would apply 
in diagnosing infections.  Instead, we must resort to looking for antibodies or activated cells to 
counteract these infections.  This means we are looking for evidence of previous contact with 
the organism rather than actual disease.  One of the other problems associated with serology is 
that it takes time for people to develop antibodies.  In the case of Lyme disease it may take up 
to 30 days before antibodies are detectable in blood.  Moreover, there may be cross-reactions, 
which is a common problem in spirochetal illnesses.  There may be false positive results as 
well as results that may be true positive but which are not related to the actual symptoms that 
the patients are suffering from.  Another problem with antibody-associated diagnoses is that 
the antibodies tend to remain positive for life.  Generally speaking, we cannot use them as an 
indicator for adequate treatment and it is difficult to determine relapse or reinfection because 
the antibody levels will still be present.

The earliest clinical manifestation of Lyme is the pathognomonic erythema migrans.  This is 
a circular red rash which spreads out from the area of the tick bite.  Generally, it occurs within 
seven or eight days of the bite, but it can take up to 30 days to occur and it lasts for approxi-
mately a month.  It is seen in most infections, but if it is not in an obvious body site, the patient 
might not be aware of it.  Approximately 30% of people who display chronic signs of Lyme 
infection have no evidence of having had erythema migrans.  We see quite a lot of these cases in 
west Cork and County Kerry.  General practitioners regularly send us serology which turns out 
to be negative.  If we are told when we telephone them that the characteristic rash is present, a 
repeat serology is carried out approximately one month later.  If the serology is positive at this 
point, a diagnosis can be made.  Approximately 30% of patients with the rash will have a nega-
tive serology.  Those who are well aware of this problem get over it by repeating the serology.  
People can have flu-like symptoms at the same time.

The guidelines we follow when diagnosing Lyme disease were proposed by the US Center 
for Disease Control and Prevention, the Infectious Diseases Society of America, the UK Health 
Protection Agency and the European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control.  They are 
probably the most widely applied guidelines, certainly in the United States, the United King-
dom and elsewhere in Europe.  In the two-pronged approach taken we initially do an enzyme-
linked immunosorbent assay, ELISA, test which, if positive, we follow with an immunoblot 
test.  I ask members of the committee to bear in mind the caveat that in early infections people 
may have a negative serology.  If the clinical syndrome is suggestive, we always go back and 
recommend that a repeat serology be done.

When we get a positive result in the initial ELISA test, we telephone the doctor involved to 
discuss the case and make him or her aware that it will take approximately three weeks for the 
western blot results to come back from the reference laboratory in the United Kingdom.  If the 
clinical syndrome at that stage is very suggestive of Lyme disease, a decision will frequently be 
made to treat the patient to eradicate the organism as quickly as possible and avoid long-term 
complications.  When the western blot results are available, we contact the clinician again to 
discuss the case with him or her.  As I mentioned, we might suggest a further serology at that 
stage.  I reiterate that just 30 of the 1,000 samples we examined in 2013 were actually con-
firmed.  We tend to see a peak of samples late in the summer.



24

PREVENTION AND TREATMENT OF LYME DISEASE: DISCUSSION (RESUMED)

Anecdotally, having spoken to clinicians, it seems that most Lyme infections tend to occur 
in Ireland.  However, we also see many cases that originated in central Europe, Scandinavia and 
the west coast of the United States.  We have an active neurological centre within the hospital.  
The neurologists regularly test patients for Lyme disease.  If there is any suggestion of a posi-
tive Lyme disease serology in a neurological patient, we will always also examine his or her 
cerebral spinal fluid to confirm the diagnosis.  Where Lyme arthritis is an issue, joint fluid may 
also be taken to confirm the diagnosis.  

I will stop there.  I will be happy to answer questions members might have.

Chairman: I thank both delegates who have made presentations.

Deputy  Billy Kelleher: I apologise for being late.  I had something else on.  

I welcome the delegates.  The joint committee has discussed Lyme disease on a number of 
occasions and varying and contradictory views have been expressed by medical professionals 
and advocacy groups.  We are trying to get to the bottom of the issue.  We have met people who 
have Lyme disease and they often claim that traditional medical science seems to be resistant to 
believing there is something wrong with them in the first place.  They have suggested medical 
professionals can be slow and reluctant to test for Lyme disease.  Very often there are contradic-
tory views-----

Chairman: Can I stop the Deputy for one second?

Deputy  Billy Kelleher: Of course.

Chairman: I apologise, but there is a vote in the Dáil.  Perhaps we might suspend the sitting 
after the Deputy has finished his opening remarks.

Deputy  Billy Kelleher: The implication seems to be that my opening remarks must be 
short.

Chairman: In fairness, that is in the Deputy’s nature.

Deputy  Billy Kelleher: Okay.  I will ask a few questions.  

Why are there such disparities between the varying views held?  I refer, for example, to the 
view within traditional medical science on testing for Lyme disease.  Why is there not a more 
uniform opinion on the efficiency of the serologies of the western blot and ELISA test methods?  
Is there still a doubt within traditional medicine about people contracting Lyme disease?  We 
often hear claims about chronic Lyme disease, for example.  We understand the initial testing 
will identify the pathogens.  Many people have longer term concerns about the chronic Lyme 
disease element.

According to people who have contracted Lyme disease, there is a lack of understanding of 
their plight within traditional medicine.  Why is that the case?  In the light of all the advances in 
microbiology and testing, why have we not reached a point at which we can definitively iden-
tify whether there is such a thing as chronic Lyme disease?  I have met many patients, some of 
whom have appeared before the committee, who say they have met a huge well of resistance.  
They often have to travel to Germany for tests.  Why is that the case?  Do the delegates have 
any view on this?

On the broader issue, we have heard that of the 1,000 samples taken, approximately 30 were 
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confirmed.  Why is the test carried out in the microbiology unit not as accurate as it should be?  
What are the real reasons for this?  Reference was made to the use of lumbar puncture to take 
samples.  What is the most common method of taking samples to be assessed and analysed for 
Lyme disease?  

I will leave it at that because other members will have questions, too.

Chairman: I apologise to the delegates and those in the visitors Gallery for having to sus-
pend the sitting.  We have to do our duty in being part of the system of parliamentary democracy.

Sitting suspended at 11.55 a.m. and resumed at 12.10 p.m.

Chairman: We are resumed in public session and apologies to our guests for the delay.  As 
Deputy Kelleher has concluded, I call Deputy McLellan.

Deputy  Sandra McLellan: I welcome our guests and thank them for their presentations.  
I pass on apologies on behalf of Deputy Ó Caoláin who could not be here as he had to attend 
another meeting.

Dr. Bonner referred to a consensus statement and that its purpose is to ensure that patients 
are clinically managed in a harmonised fashion using guidance produced with the most up to 
date evidence.  We have had some conflicting discussion on this disease.  Do the guests believe 
that the condition of Lyme disease exists because there is evidence that people contradict that 
it does exist?

A vaccine for Lyme disease was introduced in 1998 but it has since been withdrawn by the 
manufacturer due to controversies over alleged side effects.  How are patients treated?  I ask 
each of our guests to outline the number of patients with Lyme disease they have personally 
dealt with and the way they treated them.

Do general practitioners readily recognise the symptoms of Lyme disease?  Are patients sent 
for correct screening and testing or does the disease go undetected for a long period with suf-
ferers not being treated?  Are patients living with chronic Lyme disease who do not even know 
they have it because they are being treated for something else?

Dr. Bonner in her presentation mentioned the Lyme Disease Awareness Week and the Tick-
borne Disease Toolkit.  Can she elaborate on what the Tickborne Disease Toolkit is?

Deputy  Seamus Healy: I welcome the guests and thank them for their presentations.  I 
also welcome the advocates and some patients who are in the public gallery.  It appears Lyme 
disease affects a small number of people, although the numbers have been growing during the 
past number of years.  For the people affected, it is a very significant illness and it can be very 
severe and chronic.  I know from contact I have had with sufferers in the south Tipperary area 
that there is confusion and difficulty in diagnosing the disease and patients suffering from the 
disease are often not diagnosed with it or only diagnosed with it after a prolonged period.  It 
appears there is a question over the accuracy of the various testing that takes place to identify 
the disease.  Some people have said that the tests are 70% inaccurate and only 30% accurate.  
Is that correct?  Are different tests that are more specific and accurate done in other European 
countries, for instance, in the UK or Germany?  That has been suggested.

The disease can be very debilitating, severe and chronic for people who are affected by it.  
There is a general unease that there are probably no specialists in this area in the country.  A 
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number of general practitioners have a specific interest in this disease.  Can I establish if there 
are any specialists in this field in the country and, if not, are there any proposals to appoint a 
specialist here, or to have a specialist from another European country come here as an interim 
measure?  

Is there any indication that specific age groups or categories in the population are affected 
by this disease?  It has been suggested the disease can be linked to redwater in animals or ticks 
in sheep.  I seek more information on the disease from our guests and I hope it can be dealt with.  
Even though it affects only a small group of people, it is very debilitating and severe.

Chairman: I call Senator Crown.

Senator  John Crown: I welcome the our guests.  I apologise for not being here for their 
presentations as I was a little over-booked for parts of the morning.

Lyme disease is a very real and potentially very serious condition.  I am not an expert in this 
area but having lived for many years in New York I was well aware of the people who had it.  I 
had the tragic experience of seeing my closest professional colleague and mentor from the Me-
morial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center when we were both speaking at a meeting develop heart 
block and become extremely unwell.  I do not want to bore everyone here who is not used to 
looking at cardiac tracing, but I saw longer and longer gaps emerging between his cardiac com-
plexes and he had reached the stage technically of cardiac arrest and had to have a pacemaker 
put in.  The diagnosis of Lyme disease was only made thereafter but that is what it was.  I am 
under no illusions about what a terrible illness this can be.  

I would like to amplify what my colleague, Deputy Healy, said by throwing in more ques-
tion, which I have already put to other groups this morning and which I will put to our guests 
here.  We are in general extraordinarily understaffed in every medical specialty in Ireland by 
international standards.  I understand we have people here who do this analysis through a mi-
crobiology background and through an infectious disease background and I ask them what is 
the number of consultants per head of population here in this respect compared to those in the 
UK, to continental Europe and to North America?  

A specific issue in regard to Lyme disease arose with respect to our previous hearings.  Evi-
dence was presented by another doctor who came here that there was an entity of chronic Lyme 
inflection which could occur wholly in the absence of any blood test evidence of Lyme infec-
tion.  In other words, everything could be negative but the diagnosis could still be Lyme disease.  
As a result a certain number of substantive suggestions were made as to how patients who 
presented with this clinical syndrome should be dealt with and a clear suggestion was made 
that they were not being dealt with appropriately in Ireland because of our failure to recognise 
this entity.  I thought for the sake of balance it was important that it we would have people in 
before the committee who could tell us exactly where the evidence stacks up on that.  If there is 
no doubt there is Lyme disease, I am sure there is chronic Lyme disease, but is there a chronic 
Lyme disease which occurs wholly in absence of any blood test evidence of Lyme infection?

Chairman: I call Deputy Doherty who indicated earlier that she wished to speak.  Follow-
ing her contribution, I will go back to the panel and then I will go back to the members.

Deputy  Regina Doherty: I ask the witnesses to intervene if my questions have been asked 
by previous speakers.  I was struck by the differences between the figures provided by Dr. Bon-
ner and Dr. Cryan on the number of patients who were diagnosed with Lyme disease last year.  
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Will the witnesses explain the difference between their figures?  Both Dr. Bonner and Dr. Cryan 
suggested that Lyme disease is underdiagnosed.  Why is that the case?  Is it related to the use 
in Ireland of a test that may be less specific that the tests used elsewhere?  Does the test used 
here correspond with international best practice?  Why do we not use the test that is used in the 
United States, Canada and Germany given that it yields different results?  While my observa-
tions may be anecdotal, they are based on the information we have received.

Dr. Cryan suggested that in some undiagnosed or misdiagnosed cases, the outcome can be 
more severe than in cases where the disease is detected and treated in a timely manner.  Will he 
describe the outcomes for such patients and what is the effect on their lives?  Dr. Cryan referred 
to nine cases in 2012, 13 cases in 2013 and 30 cases this year.  In how many of these cases have 
the patients shown symptoms other than the general symptoms that occur when the disease is 
detected on time?

Chairman: Who wishes to reply first?

Dr. Colette Bonner: It would be appropriate for Dr. Cryan to start as we are discussing 
laboratory testing and symptoms.

Dr. Bartley Cryan: I will deal with the easiest question first.  Redwater disease in cattle is 
caused by an organism called babesia, which is common in this country and is spread by the 
same tick that causes Lyme disease.  A different version of the disease found in New England 
is much more serious.  Humans can contract babesiosis and the literature records in the order of 
five or six cases in the past 20 years or thereabouts.  People whose spleen is absent or malfunc-
tioning can get babesiosis.  In the past ten years, there have been three cases in Galway and one 
case in Cork.  The infection is relatively common in New England.

I recently discussed Lyme disease serology with a general practitioner.  The GP’s patient, 
who is a lady from County Kerry, got the infection in Nantucket and was admitted to hospital 
with babesiosis, which to all intents and purposes is similar to malaria.  She was also treated 
for Lyme disease. 

A number of members asked about testing.  The ELISA test that we do is exactly the same as 
the test performed by the UK reference laboratory.  The two-tier, two-pronged method of doing 
an ELISA and a western blot test is the most validated and studied approach to Lyme disease 
and the one recommended in the United Kingdom by the authoritative bodies, as well as in the 
United States and elsewhere in Europe.  

Deputy  Regina Doherty: I apologise for interrupting but why are there so many misdiag-
noses?

Dr. Bartley Cryan: Other tests are available.  An activated lymphocyte test is available and 
is performed by some laboratories, particularly in Germany.  One of the previous speakers set 
great store by this test but much of the medical literature does not concur with his conclusions.  
In some of the literature it is found to be much less sensitive and specific when compared to 
ELISA testing.  In any case, the activated lymphocyte test looks at different versions of the 
same thing.  One is not directly looking for the organism, which is what one would like to do, 
but at the body’s response.  The activated lymphocyte test looks at a cellular response, whereas 
the ELISA test looks at an antibody response.  The latter approach is a very common way of 
dealing with infections, usually viral infections because they are hard to grow.

Deputy  Regina Doherty: Why is there so much misdiagnosis?
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Dr. Bartley Cryan: I will finish if the Deputy does not mind.  In Cork University Hospital, 
we use the most internationally validated test available.   Our laboratory was accredited by a 
UK body, Clinical Pathology Accreditation or CPA, until recently when we changed over to 
Irish National Accreditation Board, INAB, accreditation.  The laboratory was visited recently 
by INAB.  All the medical microbiology laboratories in the country had INAB visitations last 
year or will have them this year and all are being accredited.  As part of this accreditation, they 
must all have in place a quality system that includes the use of a CE marked assay system and 
must be validated internationally and locally to ensure international standards apply.  We are 
also part of a quality control system under which we receive anonymised specimens from a 
central laboratory in the United Kingdom.  These are tested and the results compared.  This is 
done on an ongoing basis in all areas.

All the medical staff in the department undergo full continuing medical education and so 
forth.  Teaching and knowledge of Lyme disease are widespread in medicine.  As I stated, I 
work in an area where there are four highly active neurologists for adults and one for children.  
In many cases, they want to find a diagnosis of Lyme disease because it is a treatable condition, 
whereas many neurological conditions are difficult to treat or can be treated inadequately.  As 
many of them are relapsing-remitting and autoimmune, they are hard to treat.  Lyme disease is 
a diagnosis that is sought because it can be treated.

The condition is generally treated with antibiotics, either tetracycline in the early stages 
or intravenous antibiotics in the later stages.  Three weeks of treatment is generally adequate.  
There are no studies showing benefit beyond that period.  For instance, if people are treated for 
six months on intravenous antibiotics, it is necessary to have intravenous access for the entire 
period, which brings its own pathologies.  There have been cases of people acquiring candida 
bloodstream infections from which some have died.  Long-term use of cephalosporins can 
result in C. diff infections, which are serious and increasing in number.  People can also experi-
ence gallbladder problems from the build-up of biliary sludge as a complication of using these 
antibiotics.  For this reason, the use of antibiotics is not a trivial matter.

The reason we use validated tests is obvious.  Our main goal is obtain the correct diagnosis.  
The same circumstance used to arise in respect of brucella which, thankfully, is no longer a 
problem.  In north County Cork, half the farmers and all of the veterinarians had antibodies to 
brucellosis 20 years ago.  If a farmer or vet experienced depression or backache, his or her con-
dition was not necessarily caused by the brucella, however.  They had antibodies to brucella in 
their blood all the time.  One must take this into consideration when diagnosing any infection. 

In New England, where there is a high incidence of Lyme disease, one would have to say 
that a background population - it is probably between 9% to 10% in this country, depending on 
the area - will have antibodies to borrelia that are probably not causing any problems and may 
not be the cause of any current symptoms.  For instance, if we obtain positive serology in a 
patient who has a neurological condition, we will do a lumbar puncture to look for the presence 
of antibodies in the cerebral spinal fluid which would go with neurological Lyme disease.  We 
will then do some further testing on it to make sure it is being produced in the cerebral spinal 
fluid.  We also do this in other scenarios.

Generally speaking, one has a list of differentials with different priorities.  If one has a list 
of illnesses causing a neurological condition, including Lyme disease, and nothing is becom-
ing obvious, the patient will be retested several times and may even be treated to ensure Lyme 
disease is ruled out of the diagnosis.  There is, therefore, a bias towards having treatable condi-
tions ruled out. 



JOINT COMMITTEE ON HEALTH AND CHILDREN

29

We were asked whether chronic Lyme disease exists.  It is definitely the case that people 
who are not treated for Lyme disease can develop chronic complications.  People who have 
been treated for Lyme disease can get what is called a post-Lyme syndrome.  Post-infective 
syndromes are relatively common.  For example, Epstein-Barr virus is tremendously common 
among teenagers at the moment and many of them will experience a protracted period of fatigue 
post having the infection.  This is well described after a number of viral and bacterial infections.  

There is a syndrome, so-called chronic Lyme disease, which is described in the literature I 
have been reading as causing excessive fatigue, neurocognitive issues, aches, pains, joint pains 
and muscle weaknesses.  It is a relatively weak syndrome in terms of clinical syndromes.  Sena-
tor Crown asked whether it could be associated with Lyme disease and the absence of antibod-
ies.  I do not believe there is evidence in the literature to support such a position. 

What would be the etymology of the condition if Lyme disease were associated with it?  Is it 
persistent infection?  If a person had persistent infection, antibodies would be produced.    The 
problems with the antibodies and false negatives are early in the infection, within the first two 
months where somebody has the rash.  When they are tested, 30% are found to be negative.  The 
rash is so characteristic that there is very little else it can be.  In New England such people get 
tetracycline and the person may repeat the serology in a month to confirm that it has become 
positive.

As I said, there is a drive towards getting treatable diagnoses on an ongoing basis with the 
clinician we are dealing with, and Lyme disease is one of those.  On education, all the GPs in 
our area are very well aware of Lyme disease, as are all the neurologists in our area.  Most have 
trained in the United States.  Generally speaking, most of the physicians in the country will 
have trained in the United States.  They will be very cognisant of Lyme disease. 

We do not have specific Lyme disease specialists in the country.  We have infectious disease 
consultants, although not very many, and neurologists who will deal with the vast majority of 
Lyme disease cases.  Rheumatologists are involved to a lesser extent, but that would usually be 
an American-associated Lyme disease.

Dr. Colette Bonner: In regard to the difference in numbers, I will let Dr. Darina O’Flanagan 
deal with that.  The difference to the diagnosis Dr. Cryan referred to relates to the total number 
of cases of Lyme disease, whereas I am discussing notifications which relate to neuroborrelio-
sis, a very specific neurological complication of it.  Dr. O’Flanagan will talk to that.  Dr. McK-
eown will explain the toolkit and other educational material that has been available from HPSC 
for a long time for clinicians and the public.

Dr. Paul McKeown: I thank the Chairman for the opportunity to respond.  I will discuss the 
toolkit first.  It was an initiative developed between the European Centre for Disease Control, 
ECDC, which is the equivalent of the CDC in the United States of America.  It is an overarching 
infectious control forum for the member states in managing infectious diseases.  Across Europe 
there are a range of vector borne diseases, that is, diseases carried largely by insects or insect-
like creatures.  Lyme disease is carried by ticks, which are not insects.  They are like beetles.  
Tick-borne diseases are very common across Europe.  Lyme disease is the most common, but 
there are other diseases such as tick-borne encephalitis which is extremely common in eastern 
Europe but not in central Europe.  We do not see any cases unless they are imported.

I refer to these diseases because whenever we examine them we try to take a holistic ap-
proach because what will prevent one disease may reduce the incidence of a number of dis-
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eases.  The ECDC has always had an interest in this, as has the HPSC, and in 2012 a notifiable 
entity of neuroborreliosis was introduced.  In doing so we followed ECDC advice that it was 
best to count those forms of diseases of which one is very sure.  We know from evidence that 
about 10% of cases of Lyme disease end up as neuroborreliosis.  We have been seeing about 
ten cases, on average, a year since we started collecting the figures in a systematic way.  That 
would suggest we have ten or 15 times that number of erythema migrans Lyme disease, which 
is the milder form.  I will return to the toolkit.

Chronic Lyme disease exists.  As a locum GP 25 years ago I worked in Bristol which is, I 
understand, quite near the New Forest.  Deputy McLellan referred to it.  I saw it very regularly.  
Lyme disease is extremely interesting.  Dr. Cyran referred to serology.  We know from studies 
undertaken in different countries and Ireland that blood tests will show up Lyme disease.  One 
will be left with a ghost of Lyme disease in one’s blood if one was infected in the past.  Stud-
ies would suggest that urban areas have relatively low levels of people with these antibodies, 
whereas rural areas have quite high levels.  One study in Ireland showed that about 1% of a 
sample of the Dublin population had antibodies to Lyme disease, whereas parts of the west had 
15%.

That indicates that many people are bitten by ticks and exposed to the Lyme bug which is 
carried in the saliva of these ticks.  Whenever they feed they have a blood feast.  Only a small 
proportion go on to develop erythema migrans, and an even smaller percentage go on to develop 
the more serious forms.  The more serious forms are very debilitating and difficult to live with.  

We consider it extremely important to raise awareness of this issue.  We were very happy 
to become deeply involved with the ECDC initiative, namely, the development of its toolkit 
which has material that was pre-prepared.  We made it relevant for GPs, other clinicians and 
the general public in Ireland.  In previous years we produced material for national parks and 
linked with support groups that contacted us.  We identified which organisations could provide 
literature, material and advice on what to do.  The HPSC has a lot of information on its website.  
We are in the process of bringing together a group of the scientific advisory committee which 
will extend and carry on this work.

The toolkit was designed to raise awareness, and the awareness raising for Lyme disease 
has to take place across a spectrum.  It is something of which we can all be aware.  There is 
quite a high degree of awareness of Lyme disease among our GPs and clinicians, but that can 
be continued.  

I was also asked about specific age groups.  We know from our cases and serological studies 
that individuals who are most likely to be bitten by a tick and have a positive Lyme disease test 
or go on to develop Lyme disease are those who come in close contact with ticks in their habitat.  
Ticks live outside in woodland and heathland and people who are in those areas, because of 
their job or leisure interests, are those most likely to come into contact with them.  

We see about ten cases of neuroborreliosis a year.  We have a pretty good idea of the number 
of cases.  Our departments of public health are keenly aware of the condition, link closely with 
GPs and report back data from their areas to GPs.  One step I was very pleased to see and which 
I am grateful to the department for was that Lyme disease as neuroborreliosis became notifiable.  
The act of making something notifiable brings it to people’s attention.

We were asked whether the general public was aware of Lyme disease.  I do not think we 
can ever be totally happy with our awareness of many diseases.  The awareness raising we have 
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undertaken in the HPSC will continue because it is important for people to have the informa-
tion at the back of their heads, in particular since it is seasonal.  Lyme disease can be contracted 
throughout the year, but whenever people are out more and in contact with nature more they 
need to take more precautions.  On our website we have a lot of information about how people 
can minimise the chances of being bitten by a tick and developing Lyme disease.

Dr. Darina O’Flanagan: It is important, when speaking about chronic Lyme disease, that 
we differentiate between people who have been treated for it and those who have not because, 
obviously, those who have not been treated for it can go on to develop the chronic complica-
tions referred to, be it neuroborreliosis or arthritic manifestations.  There is a danger in labelling 
people who do not have laboratory diagnostic evidence of positive serology indicating chronic 
Lyme disease because, as stated by Dr. Cryan, prolonged antimicrobial treatment can lead to 
side-effects such as central vascular catheter infections, fungal infections and so on.  There is 
also a concern about people who have other conditions such as multiple sclerosis, motor neuron 
disease and so on.  There are many documented cases of people who turned out to have diagno-
ses that had not been adequately investigated at a proper stage because of a false diagnosis of 
chronic Lyme disease.  We must be very careful in this regard.  It is important that diagnoses be 
made by accredited laboratories in Ireland.  I would be reluctant to depend on the diagnoses of 
some laboratories, for example, in Germany which are not accredited and do not operate to the 
same high standards applied in Ireland.

Senator  Colm Burke: My apologies for not being present for the presentations, but I had 
to attend in the Seanad for votes.  However, the delegates have given good responses to the 
questions put to them thus far.

I would like to follow on from an issue highlighted by Deputy Billy Kelleher.  There appears 
to be a huge difference of opinion on the diagnoses people are receiving from laboratories in 
Germany and Belgium and those being offered here.  Has this issue been discussed at interna-
tional conferences and, if so, in terms of the line being taken on this issue in Germany and Bel-
gium and what the delegates have told us today, what has been the general outcome?  It has been 
stated there is no laboratory support for diagnoses.  I presume this matter has been discussed at 
international conferences.  I would welcome some feedback in that regard.

Deputy  Mary Mitchell O’Connor: Delegates from Chronic Pain Ireland appeared before 
the committee a couple of months ago.  Approximately two years prior to that meeting I at-
tended a conference on the issue.  The view of people who spoke at that conference was that 
the problem of chronic pain was not recognised in Ireland.  The conference was attended by 
experts from Australia who were also of the view that the problem was not recognised here.  
The group was then invited to appear before the committee at which time it put its case to the 
then Minister, Deputy James Reilly, who had the matter investigated.  The problem of chronic 
pain is now recognised in Ireland.  Are doctors in Ireland inclined to dismiss the issue?  I refer 
to the story about Mark as outlined in the three-page letter sent to us by his mother.  I am sure 
he is experiencing exactly what is set out therein.  Are doctors in Ireland quick to dismiss the 
idea that someone is suffering from chronic pain?

Deputy  Brendan Griffin: I thank the delegates for attending.  I have received a letter from 
a constituent on the Dingle Peninsula in County Kerry who believes she contracted Lyme dis-
ease when hiking in Killarney National Park.  Kerry is one of the counties identified as high risk 
in that regard.  The experience of the person in question has been absolutely appalling.  Despite 
undergoing numerous tests in Ireland, she was misdiagnosed as having many conditions.  When 
she travelled to Germany for further tests her condition was finally correctly diagnosed.  Be-
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cause the correct diagnosis was so late in coming she is not in as good a condition as she could 
have been.  Her family have had to sell the family home to meet the cost of tests and treatment.  
Their lives have been ruined and she can no longer work because of her medical condition.  She 
is at her wit’s end at this stage and hugely concerned about the failure to acknowledge huge 
flaws in our testing system and the negative attitude to diagnoses of Lyme disease.  She has 
asked me to put a number of questions to the delegates.

Why are patients who test positive for Lyme disease in other EU countries not given access 
to treatment in Ireland?  While I acknowledge that that question was answered earlier, I would 
welcome elaboration on the response, including the reason in 60% of cases the disease is not 
detected and why, following testing, many patients are diagnosed with other conditions.  Is it 
the case that people are being tested numerous times until there is a negative result, despite the 
initial result being positive?  Has any progress been made since this matter was last discussed 
here in the setting up of the proposed sub-committee and inclusion of sufferers of Lyme disease 
in it?  As I said, according to my constituent, the culture here appears to be not to try to accom-
modate people.

Deputy  Regina Doherty: I have two further questions arising from the delegates’ respons-
es to my earlier questions.  Lest Dr. Cryan thought I was insinuating anything about the calibre 
of any person, I was not.  I apologise if that impression was given; I was only trying to tease 
something out.  

Dr. Cryan has stated that in the case of 30% of the tests carried out the results are negative.  
Is there a common reason for this?  I may have misunderstood an earlier response, but, as I un-
derstand it, according to Dr. McKeown, there is what is called chronic Lyme disease.  However, 
according to Dr. Cryan, there can be no such disease if there are no antibodies.  If antibodies 
are detected, there is such a thing as chronic Lyme disease.  If antibodies are not detected but 
people are experiencing the symptoms on the list, what is Dr. Cryan’s explanation for what the 
people concerned are going through, or is that too broad a question to ask?

Deputy  Billy Kelleher: Reference was made to Germany, which is not a basket case but 
rather a First World country.  Why is there such a discrepancy between the accreditation sys-
tems in Germany and Ireland?  Is the laboratory in Germany acting independently?  Many 
people have told us that they were diagnosed in Germany as having chronic Lyme disease.  Is 
it the view of the delegates that the accreditation system in Germany is not up to scratch or that 
some laboratories there are acting outside internationally accepted accreditation systems?  I 
would welcome clarity on that issue.

As asked by Deputy Regina Doherty, what is the explanation in the case of a person who 
has all the symptoms associated with Lyme disease but in whom no antibodies are detected?  
Dr. Cryan has stated people would almost welcome a diagnosis of Lyme disease because it is 
treatable.  Is there almost a yearning that a person needs to find out what is wrong and that one 
hopes it is this?  Is that what Dr. Cryan was inferring?

Dr. Bartley Cryan: I mentioned that there is an active neurological service in Cork Univer-
sity Hospital.  A number of people there have progressive neurological conditions and there will 
be quite long differentials for the potential causes of those conditions.  If a treatable cause can 
be found, the onus will be on the neurologist and the investigating doctors to exclude as vigor-
ously as possible all treatable causes.  Lyme disease, being one of the treatable causes, would 
be vigorously pursued by the neurologist and the investigating doctors.  It is not that the patient 
wishes he or she has Lyme disease; it is that the treating physician will vigorously check for any 
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treatable condition in somebody who might otherwise have an untreatable relapsing condition.

Deputy Regina Doherty mentioned that a person may have the symptom complex but not 
the antibodies.  It is very difficult to explain scientifically, and it is difficult to prove it if one 
reviews the literature, how in the absence of the organism and an immune response to the or-
ganism somebody can get the symptoms that are part of that chronic Lyme syndrome caused by 
the organism.  One has either an infection or an immune reaction to the infection.  In either case 
one should be able to detect one or other of those.  If there is no evidence of it detectable and 
the person has symptoms - the symptom complex is very broad and the list of things that can 
cause that is extremely long - one can rule out Lyme disease by the absence of the bacterium 
or by the absence of the body’s response to it.  Obviously, people who have been infected and 
are not treated can get chronic Lyme disease.  On the issue of the use of the term chronic Lyme 
disease in the absence of antibodies or evidence of infection, there is no literature proving that 
it actually exists.

One wonders why some people, such as Deputy Brendan Griffin’s constituent, is not re-
sponding to treatment, and perhaps she is not being treated for the right thing.  He mentioned 
that 30% of the tests were false negatives.  The vast majority of the false negatives occur early 
in the infection where the erythema migrans has come because one gets the erythema migrans 
in the first 30 days, usually in the second week.  The antibodies only start to become positive 
around then.  One may find that the antibodies are positive in week four and the rash is present 
in week two.  It is a very characteristic rash.  Any GP who sees this and recognises it will repeat 
the test about six weeks later and it will confirm it.  When one takes that out of the count, the 
testing is quite accurate.

On the German laboratories, there are a number of laboratories.  If one searches the Internet, 
one will find people in the US saying they will PCR and will detect Lyme disease in a whole se-
ries of body fluids.  A professor in our department has been trying to do that with Lyme disease 
for the past two years without any success. The people I referred to will do that test at great cost 
to the individual.  Many people are offering very questionable tests to people at great expense.  
The test used by the laboratory in Germany is a lymphocyte stimulation assay.  The speaker at 
the committee’s previous meeting, who seems to have enormous experience in Lyme disease, 
surprisingly has not written very much in the literature.  I actually looked it up to find some 
of the bases for his suppositions.  He has written only one letter but no scientific publications, 
which is extraordinary given his interest in the syndrome.

However, on the tests that he recommends and about which he is quite positive, the litera-
ture is very mixed on that particular test.  It is a cellular version of what we do with antibodies 
so one is looking at versions of the same thing, but in other hands the sensitivity and specific-
ity would suggest that it is not as good as the test we do.  Germany seems to have a particular 
interest in all of this but where is the most Lyme disease in the world?  New England.  Where 
are the people who have the longest experience of dealing with lyme disease?  The US.  Where 
is the most serious Lyme disease, the specific borrelia burgdorferi?  We have a variety of other 
species that are less pathogenic.  The US.  Whose advice would one be best advised to follow?  
The people who deal with it most often, the most serious forms of it and have the most problems 
with it and who actually diagnosed it in the first place.  We follow the IDSA guidelines, the 
CDC guidelines, the UK guidelines and the ECDC guidelines, all of which are singing from the 
same hymn sheet.  In fact, it could be the same document.

Deputy  Billy Kelleher: It could be groupthink.
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Dr. Bartley Cryan: There is actual evidence to back up all of this.

Deputy  Billy Kelleher: I was being devil’s advocate.

Dr. Bartley Cryan: Yes, it could be a groupthink.  I would suggest the reverse.  I would 
suggest the other side is groupthink.  The Deputy mentioned international conferences.  There 
has been quite an amount of debate, both verbally at conferences and in the literature, about 
this whole subject.  Following a diagnosis of chronic Lyme disease, the scientific basis for pro-
tracted antibiotic therapy for this poorly defined condition is non-existent.  When it becomes 
existent the treatment, modification and management of it will change.  At the moment there is 
not a sufficient weight of scientific evidence to suggest that seronegative patients who have this 
symptom complex with the huge potential list of differentials have actual occult Lyme disease.  
While variety of suggestions have been put forward, if one goes through them one after another, 
it is very difficult to prove a negative.  We got blood in from a person who wanted to find the 
undetectable viruses.  I rang back asking which undetectable ones she specifically wanted us to 
look for.  She said that if we could not find them, they must have an undetectable virus.  The ab-
sence of something does not mean it is present.  There is no scientific proof to suggest that this 
occult Lyme disease syndrome actually exists.  People are doing a lot of research.  The Lyme 
disease diagnosis is not an exact science at the moment.  It should, hopefully, be improved.  
People have been looking for this particular cause.

I was present at a conference 25 years ago where chronic fatigue syndrome and Lyme dis-
ease were being discussed and they were trying to find linkages between the two.  This line 
of investigation has been going on for quite some time and there still is not tangible scientific 
evidence.  The crucial thing is that people do not get misdiagnosed.  If one is diagnosed with the 
syndrome and one does not respond to the treatment, the chances are that one has got something 
else, but time has moved on.  We do not repeat testing until it goes negative.  The only reason 
we might repeat a test is to confirm there was not a mix-up with patient labelling or something 
like that.  In fact, every significant test we get, we will always get a second sample from the pa-
tient to confirm that it is positive, and occasionally one will do them to monitor therapy.  Once 
one is positive, one will be positive for life and those antibodies will be present.  It is the same 
with all the viruses and various other infective agents that we have come in contact with.

Dr. Darina O’Flanagan: I will pick up on the issue of following the science.  I wish to com-
ment on two trials that have followed up patients who have been treated for Lyme disease and 
that have compared them with healthy controls.  One of the studies, a Slovenian study, shows 
that the symptoms after treatment at six and 12 months were the same in the treated group as the 
control population.  Another similar study was done in a Swedish group.  Again there was no 
difference in the outcomes following treatment.  The issue is that both studies highlighted the 
background prevalence of non-specific symptoms in the general population such as arthralgia, 
aches and pains, myalgia fatigue and other subjective symptoms.  Unless one compares it with 
a control population the evidence does not exist that there is a difference once people have been 
adequately treated.  There is no scientific evidence to support the need for long-term chronic 
use of antibiotics.

There was another question from Deputy Brendan Griffin in regard to the sub-committee of 
the scientific advisory committee.  This year we have deferred a number of our committees be-
cause of the issue of Ebola virus disease and we have had to pull a number of our people in the 
HPSC to work on Ebola.  We will pick up those committees next year, hopefully, prioritise them 
and resume the work that had begun on them.  If we have an emerging viral threat, we must 
prioritise what we focus on.  That is the nature of the business we are in.  Hopefully, if there 
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are no other competing priorities like the Ebola virus disease, we will be able to pick that up.

Deputy  Brendan Griffin: Is the centre open to representations from sufferers?

Dr. Darina Flanagan: We open our documentation for a consultation process.  Whenever 
we produce a document, we send it out widely for consultation and sufferers will have the op-
portunity to provide their comments for consideration by the committee at that stage.

Deputy  Brendan Griffin: Is there scope on the committee itself for someone who repre-
sents sufferers?

Dr. Darina Flanagan: The way we do it is to receive and consider all comments when we 
put it out for consultation.

Dr. Paul McKeown: I should clarify for Deputy Regina Doherty that when I spoke about 
chronic Lyme disease I meant that there are chronic conditions.  In terms of chronic seronega-
tive Lyme disease, the human body is designed to fight off alien substances, including infec-
tions.  One of the ways it does this is through antibodies.  My feeling is that if somebody has an 
infection, they must mount an antibody response.  If the antibodies are not there, it means the 
person has a desperately damaged immune system and is open to all sorts of infections or that 
the diagnosis would be something else.

In terms of guidance, it is extremely important that we produced our consensus statement 
and highlighted a number of guidance documents.  Whenever we develop guidance, we look 
for confluence and a majority of evidence pointing in one direction.  To do that, we have access 
to a vast amount of evidence through various repositories of information that are made freely 
available to us.  It is a wonderful resource.  We look for confluence of evidence which does not 
mean that we discard other evidence.  All the evidence in terms of diagnostics and treatment 
very much point in a particular direction, and that is the basis upon which we have developed 
guidance.

I note to Deputy Griffin that it is shocking to hear of someone who is placed in that awful 
position.  I would be very concerned that if that person got a diagnosis outside the country, he 
or she was given the wrong diagnosis.  Quality assurance in our labs is very high and extremely 
important because our medics - my microbiological colleagues - are here to protect people.  
That is why across all developed countries the laboratories operate to a very high quality as-
surance standard.  That is necessary to ensure that people get the correct diagnosis in order that 
they do not go down a road of being given inappropriate antibiotics that could damage them or 
having an inappropriate lumbar puncture, which very occasionally has complications.

Dr. Darina Flanagan: We are very fortunate in Ireland in the quality of the laboratory ser-
vices we have.

Chairman: In accepting that, I note that in a presentation last year, one of the people before 
us made a very strong statement that, unfortunately, lab testing for disease in Ireland is currently 
limited.

Dr. Darina Flanagan: I do not support that.

Chairman: That was just presented to us last year.

Dr. Darina Flanagan: My concern would be that in some countries there is a preponder-
ance of private labs and they do not have the same standards we do in the laboratories here.
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Deputy  Brendan Griffin: Can I go back to my constituent and tell her there is no way that 
if she is positive for Lyme disease, the labs in Ireland would have missed it on foot of the tests 
that were carried out?  Could I confidently say that is what the witnesses are saying to her here 
today?

Deputy  Catherine Byrne: My question is really the same.  I accept that where someone 
is diagnosed out of the country, there may be labs that are not up to standard.  We had a group 
in an hour ago who said the same thing about labs and people doing medical work who are not 
fully qualified.  If somebody is diagnosed outside the country, whether through a national lab or 
a dodgy lab - I do not want to say that but it is the only way I can describe it - and comes back 
here, what help can they be given to assure them that what they have is not what they have been 
told?  If I went away and had a test done and came back to the country and the medical experts 
here did not agree with the test, would I be retested here?

Dr. Darina Flanagan: Yes.

Deputy  Catherine Byrne: If someone goes away and is told he or she has Lyme disease, 
he or she can have the diagnosis corrected here.  Is that correct?

Senator  John Crown: We all bring a variety of different life skills to the committee, but I 
am worried that some of the scientifically inexperienced members may have an understanding 
that somehow there is a consensus in Germany that is different from a consensus in Ireland.  I 
can tell someone with a high degree of confidence what treatment one of my patients will get 
where, as happens, he or she goes for an international second opinion.  I have a pretty good idea 
what he or she will hear if he or she goes to see the head of breast oncology at Harvard, Yale, 
UCLA, Stanford, or the Royal Marsden.  I know what is being published and have a couple of 
hundred papers myself.  Many of these people are amply published.  Dr. Cryan has given the 
most masterful and professional testimony I have ever heard anyone give to the committee.  It 
has been forensic, accurate, dispassionate and informed and I commend him on it.  There are 
mainstream infectious disease professors in Berlin, Düsseldorf, Hanover and Munich.  Is any of 
them espousing the notion or technique of, to say his name as he was here, Dr. Schwarzbach?  
If Deputy Griffin thinks the question is inappropriate, I ask him to refuse to answer it.

Chairman: He is not here to defend himself now.

Senator  John Crown: Was the person who made the diagnosis in the case of Deputy Grif-
fin’s constituent the same person who benefited from the proceeds of the sale of the house?

Chairman: That is not appropriate.

Deputy  Brendan Griffin: I ask for that to be withdrawn.  There is a likelihood that this 
lady is watching these proceedings.

Chairman: Deputy Griffin, I am chairing the committee.

Deputy  Brendan Griffin: Can Senator Crown imagine how that person must feel to hear 
his remarks right now when looking in on these proceedings?  I ask the Senator to have a think 
about that now and about a lady in serious ill health back in Kerry hearing his remarks.  I ask 
for the remark to be withdrawn.

Chairman: I ask the members to respect the Chair.  I will intervene.

Senator  John Crown: I am not going to withdraw the question.
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Chairman: I am not going to have this type of behaviour in the committee.  The Senator 
made a remark that was not relevant to the discussion and which is inappropriate in terms of the 
discussion we are having.

Senator  John Crown: It is highly relevant as the suggestion was made that we should 
devote health service resources.

Deputy  Brendan Griffin: It is not relevant, it is arrogant.

Chairman: In fairness now, I will hand back to Dr. Cryan.  I echo the point that Senator 
Crown made that Dr. Cryan has given powerful testimony and I commend him on that.

Dr. Bartley Cryan: The two Deputies asked what the reaction will be where someone gets 
a diagnosis abroad and returns to the country.  Generally speaking, where someone has a diag-
nosis of an infectious disease from abroad, the treating physician and-or GP will redo the tests, 
serologies, etc. here.  The person will be treated exactly the same as anyone else.  In the UK 
roughly 15% of Lyme disease is acquired and diagnosed abroad.  We would have many people 
who come back from central Europe who have Lyme disease and had a diagnosis abroad.  We 
will confirm that ourselves and, whether they have had the lymphocyte stimulation assay done 
or not, we will do our ELISA test on it.  If we get discrepant results, we will look into it further.  
They are treated exactly as if they picked up Lyme disease in Killarney.

Senator  John Crown: I asked a question which has not been answered.

Chairman: Any outstanding questions will be taken at the end.  Questions have been asked 
of other witnesses.  This is not about argy-bargy but obtaining information so we can arrive at 
a decision.

Senator  John Crown: On a point of information, I asked-----

Chairman: The Senator will receive the information at the end of the discussion.

Senator  John Crown: I want to ask Dr. Cryan whether any other mainstream professors 
would espouse the same methods suggested by the previous anonymous-----

Dr. Bartley Cryan: The proof of this particular pie is in the eating.  The European Centre 
for Disease Prevention and Control, ECDC, the Infectious Diseases Society of America, IDSA, 
the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, CDC, in the US and the equivalent bodies in 
the UK, which are all highly reputable, agree on the two-tier approach to diagnosis and the 
treatment regimens.  It was mentioned the testing was limited in this country

Chairman: That was a just remark made at the previous committee meeting.

Dr. Bartley Cryan: To an extent it is true, but it is limited to the recommended two-tier ap-
proach.  The second part of the two-tier approach for almost all laboratories in this country is 
the UK reference laboratory.  The first part we use, which many others do also, is the same test 
used in the UK’s national reference laboratory.

Dr. Colette Bonner: We have demonstrated that we are looking at a condition which has 
chronic symptoms which can be related to many pathologies.  We have learned today that it is 
very important for people to get an accurate diagnosis and not end up with a diagnosis which 
misses something very important whereby they do not get adequate treatment for that condition 
when they should.
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PREVENTION AND TREATMENT OF LYME DISEASE: DISCUSSION (RESUMED)

Dr. Darina O’Flanagan: I agree and I support what Dr. Bonner stated.  It is essential that 
people obtain an accurate diagnosis.  If there is no supportive evidence, other conditions must 
be considered.

Dr. Paul McKeown: I echo this exactly.  In medicine one starts by trying to identify the 
cause of the condition and one needs to start with the correct diagnosis.  It is like divergent 
roads.  If one goes too far down a road one can end up causing a patient harm, so getting the 
diagnosis right at the beginning is crucial.  This is why we rely on good clinical acumen, which 
we have in abundance in this country, and the appropriate tests, as Dr. Cryan stated.

Deputy  Regina Doherty: Notwithstanding the arrows being thrown around with regard to 
particular institutions, how would one conduct a test for Lyme disease if there were no antibod-
ies?  The witnesses have spent the past number of hours explaining that one will get a diagnosis 
if one is testing for the disease itself or the body’s reaction to antibodies.  How can somebody 
go to Timbuktu and get tested and receive a positive diagnosis without one of these two things?

Deputy  Brendan Griffin: Have there been cases where people have tested negative here, 
gone abroad to a reputable or non-reputable clinic and obtained a positive diagnosis, returned 
here, been retested and found positive?  In cases where people have obtained positive results 
abroad, what happens when they return?  What happens if someone goes to mainland Europe 
after receiving a negative diagnosis here, gets a positive diagnosis there, returns and further 
tests show something else?

Deputy  Seamus Healy: Is someone who tests negative here retested after two, three or 
four weeks?  Is there a case to be made for preventative antibiotics prior to a positive test result 
which may occur a fortnight or a month later?

Dr. Bartley Cryan: I will attempt to answer Deputy Doherty’s question first.  It depends on 
what one is seeking.  If a particular test seeks antibodies and another test examines stimulated 
cells, the two tests seek different things which may have come from the same source.  There 
will always be some tests which are slightly divergent.  Another spirochetal disease is very 
similar to Lyme disease and has three phases.  We screen for this and do two other tests after-
wards.  Quite frequently we have divergent results because each test examines different things.

Some of the earlier Lyme disease enzyme-linked immunosorbant assays, ELISAs, were 
non-specific because in the earlier tests the ELISA sought antibodies to the entire bacterium.  
They have been defined and refined.  We have many spirochetes, which borrelia is, in our 
mouth.  They are common organisms and there are many common bits to them for which 
people can develop antibodies.  We need to use an assay which takes out these common bits and 
focuses on the specific borrelia bit.  There can also be differences because there are different 
species in Europe and the United States.  This has all been gone into in considerable detail, so 
the available assays, including the one we use, are up there with the best internationally and the 
most accepted.

Deputy  Regina Doherty: If somebody travels and tests positive, then something has been 
found, albeit something in the person’s mouth-----

Dr. Bartley Cryan: A positive result has been obtained but the relevance of the positive 
result is the issue.  There are false positives and false negatives and the activated lymphocyte 
assay is not internationally standardised and is not recommended by the IDSA or the CDC in 
the United States.  For these reasons we do not use it, because it is not an internationally ap-
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proved assay.

To answer the question on antibiotics, if I phone a general practitioner with a strong positive 
result for somebody with a facial nerve palsy, which is one of the neurological manifestations 
which comes on reasonably early in Lyme disease, it will be sent to the reference laboratory.  I 
know it will take three weeks to come back so I will suggest the patient is treated so the Lyme 
disease will be treated as early as possible.  The result from the reference laboratory is likely 
to be positive and the person will have completed treatment by the time the result comes back.  
If the result is not confirmed then the facial palsy has another cause, although we would repeat 
the serology six weeks later to be sure.  If it is Lyme disease, it will have been treated as early 
as possible, which reduces the long-term complications.

There is a suggestion that if someone with an infective illness is treated early, the antibody 
response can be blunted so the person does not develop as many antibodies as would be the case 
if he or she got the full disease.  This is in theory, but in practice it does not really happen.  Many 
people are well treated for infections but they still have many antibodies.

Deputy  Brendan Griffin: I wish to press my questions on people who tested negative here.

Dr. Bartley Cryan: I do not know.  I am not that intimately involved with people who tested 
negative here and tested positive abroad.  I do not know whether they had subsequent positive 
tests here.  I am not aware of any case anecdotally.  I am aware of some people who have tested 
negative here and went abroad to be tested, but I do not know where they went or what tests 
they had.

Deputy  Brendan Griffin: Were other conditions diagnosed later, even after a positive test 
abroad?

Dr. Bartley Cryan: One can get positive Lyme disease serology with rheumatoid arthritis 
or autoimmune conditions.  Many conditions make it very difficult for one to diagnose anything 
serologically.  In the reference laboratory in which I worked, if we had a positive test for Lyme 
disease, we tested for three or four other illnesses to exclude them because one can have cross-
reacting antibodies.  We ensured the antibodies were due to the borrelia and not due to another 
spirochete, rheumatoid arthritis or a connective tissue infection.

Chairman: I thank Dr. Bryan, Dr. Bonner, Dr. O’Flanagan and Dr. McKeown for attending.  
I also thank them for their excellent presentations and testimony.  We appreciate their taking the 
time to come before us.  I also wish to thank members for their participation and to acknowl-
edge those in the Gallery who have been present for the entirety of proceedings.

I take this opportunity, on behalf of members, to thank the staff of the committee and the 
reporting and technical staff for all their work and co-operation during the year.  I wish those 
present and their families a very happy Christmas and a prosperous new year.  I urge members 
and staff to enjoy the break and to return refreshed in the new year.

The joint committee adjourned at 1.20 p.m. until 9.30 a.m. on Thursday, 15 January 2015.


